The Navier-Stokes strain equation with applications to enstrophy growth and global regularity

by

Evan Miller

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Graduate Department of Mathematics University of Toronto

© Copyright 2019 by Evan Miller, some rights reserved

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons "Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International" license.



Abstract

The Navier-Stokes strain equation with applications to enstrophy growth and global regularity

Evan Miller Doctor of Philosophy Graduate Department of Mathematics University of Toronto 2019

This thesis derives an evolution equation for the symmetric part of the gradient of the velocity (the strain tensor) for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equation. We use this equation to obtain a simplified identity for the growth of enstrophy for mild solutions that depends only on the determinant of the strain tensor, not on the nonlocal interaction of the strain tensor with the vorticity.

The resulting identity allows us to prove a new family of scale-critical necessary and sufficient conditions for blow-up of the solution in finite time $T_{max} < +\infty$, which depend only on the history of the positive part of the second eigenvalue of the strain matrix. Since this matrix is trace-free, this severely restricts the geometry of any finite-time blow-up. This regularity criterion provides analytic evidence of the numerically observed tendency of the vorticity to align with the eigenvector corresponding to the middle eigenvalue of the strain matrix.

We then consider a vorticity approach to the question of almost two-dimensional initial data, using this same identity for enstrophy growth and an isometry relating the third column of the strain matrix to the first two components of the vorticity. We prove a new global regularity result for initial data with two components of the vorticity sufficiently small. Finally, we prove the existence and stability of blowup for a toy model ODE of the strain equation.

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my adviser Robert McCann for all his support throughout my graduate studies, and especially for his patience with me in spite of my extreme stubbornness in selecting problems to work on. No matter how far afield I ended up in my research, he always had insightful advice on how to proceed.

I would also like to thank Catherine Sulem for serving on my committee, for offering her insight on my problems, and for being so supportive throughout the arduous process that is being on the academic job market. I would like to thank Bob Jerrard for serving on my committee, for offering his insight on my problems, and for giving me my first introduction to fluid mechanics when he gave a topics course on the subject. I would like to thank Almut Burchard for all of her advice, mathematical and otherwise, and for helping to make the transition to graduate school so smooth as the Graduate Chair. I would like to thank Jemima Merisca and Sonja Injac for all the vital administrative work they did to support me and all of the graduate students in the math department.

I would like to thank my parents Sally and Daniel Miller, for doing so much to make me the person I am and support me along this path. I would like to thank my partner, Natasha Alcalde Lawton, for being so supportive and for helping keep me balanced, or, if we are being honest, maintain at least a modicum of balance.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Evolution equation for the strain tensor	12
3	Isometries and the enstrophy growth identity	18
4	Maximal enstrophy growth	23
5	Regularity criteria	30
6	A vorticity approach to almost two dimensional initial data	40
7	Relationship of the vorticity approach to previous results	50
8	Blowup for a toy model ODE of the strain equation	63
9	The strain equation in two dimensions	67
Bibliography		69

Chapter 1

Introduction

The Navier-Stokes equation, which governs viscous, incompressible flow, is one of the most fundamental equations in fluid dynamics. The incompressible Navier-Stokes equation is given by

$$\partial_t u - \nu \Delta u + (u \cdot \nabla)u + \nabla p = f,$$

$$\nabla \cdot u = 0,$$

(1.1)

where $u \in \mathbb{R}^3$ denotes the velocity, p the pressure, f the external force, and $\nu > 0$ is the viscosity. The pressure is completely determined in terms of u and f, by taking the divergence of both sides of the equation, which yields

$$-\Delta p = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} - \nabla \cdot f.$$
(1.2)

We refer here to the Navier-Stokes equation, rather than the Navier-Stokes equations, because this PDE is best viewed not as a system of equations, but as an evolution equation on the space of divergence free vector fields.

Two other objects which play a crucial role in Navier-Stokes analysis are the vorticity and the strain, which represent the anti-symmetric and symmetric parts of the $\nabla \otimes u$ respectively. The vorticity is given by taking the curl of the velocity, $\omega = \nabla \times u$, while the strain is the matrix given by $S_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} + \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} \right)$. The vorticity ω is related to the anti-symmetric part of the gradient, $A_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} - \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} \right)$ by

$$A = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \omega_3 & -\omega_2 \\ -\omega_3 & 0 & \omega_1 \\ \omega_2 & -\omega_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.3)

The evolution equation for vorticity is given by

$$\partial_t \omega - \nu \Delta \omega + (u \cdot \nabla) \omega - S \omega = \nabla \times f, \qquad (1.4)$$

and the evolution equation for the strain is given by

$$\partial_t S + (u \cdot \nabla) S - \nu \Delta S + S^2 + \frac{1}{4} \omega \otimes \omega - \frac{1}{4} |\omega|^2 I_3 + \text{Hess}(p) = \nabla_{sym} f.$$
(1.5)

In addition to the curl operator, it is also useful to define a differential operator that maps a vector to the symmetric part of it's gradient tensor: $\nabla_{sym}(v)_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial v_j}{\partial x_i} + \frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x_j} \right)$. Note that $S = \nabla_{sym} u$.

Before we proceed further we should define a number of spaces. For all $s \in \mathbb{R}$, $H^s(\mathbb{R}^3)$ will be the Hilbert space with norm

$$\|f\|_{H^s}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(1 + (2\pi|\xi|)^{2s}\right) |\hat{f}(\xi)|^2 d\xi = \left\| \left(1 + (2\pi|\xi|)^{2s}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{f} \right\|_{L^2}^2, \tag{1.6}$$

and for all $-\frac{3}{2} < s < \frac{3}{2}$, $\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{3})$ will be the homogeneous Hilbert space with norm

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (2\pi|\xi|)^{2s} |\hat{f}(\xi)|^{2} d\xi = \left\| (2\pi|\xi|)^{s} \hat{f} \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(1.7)

Note that when referring to $H^s(\mathbb{R}^3)$, $\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^3)$, or $L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)$, the \mathbb{R}^3 will often be omitted for brevity's sake. All Hilbert and Lebesgue norms are taken over \mathbb{R}^3 unless otherwise specified. Finally we will define the subspace of divergence free vector fields inside each of these spaces.

Definition 1.1. For all $s \in \mathbb{R}$ define $H^s_{df} \subset H^s(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ by

$$H_{df}^{s} = \left\{ u \in H^{s}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3}\right) : \xi \cdot \hat{u}(\xi) = 0, almost \ everywhere \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{3} \right\}.$$
(1.8)

For all $-\frac{3}{2} < s < \frac{3}{2}$, define $\dot{H}^s_{df} \subset \dot{H}^s\left(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3\right)$ by

$$\dot{H}_{df}^{s} = \left\{ u \in \dot{H}^{s} \left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3} \right) : \xi \cdot \hat{u}(\xi) = 0, almost \ everywhere \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{3} \right\}.$$
(1.9)

For all $1 \leq q \leq +\infty$, define $L^q_{df} \subset L^q(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ by

$$L_{df}^{q} = \left\{ u \in L^{q} \left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3} \right) \text{ such that for all } f \in C_{c}^{\infty} \left(\mathbb{R}^{3} \right), \left\langle u, \nabla f \right\rangle = 0. \right\}$$
(1.10)

Note that this definition makes sense, because in $u \in H^s$ or $u \in \dot{H}^s$ implies that $\hat{u}(\xi)$ is well defined almost everywhere. We will also note that $\dot{H}^0 = L^2$, so we have two different definitions of L^2_{df} . This is not a problem as both definitions are equivalent. We will also note that throughout this thesis, we will take the magnitude of a matrix, $M \in \mathbb{R}^{3\times 3}$, to be the Euclidean norm

$$|M|^2 = \sum_{i,j=1}^3 M_{ij}^2.$$
(1.11)

The standard notion of weak solutions to PDEs corresponds to integrating against test functions. Leray first proved the existence of just such weak solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation satisfying a certain energy inequality [36]. To be precise, Leray defined weak solutions, sometimes referred to as Leray-Hopf weak solutions, to the Navier-Stokes equation as follows.

Definition 1.2 (Leray weak solutions). Suppose
$$u^0 \in L^2_{df}$$
. Then $u \in L^{\infty}\left([0, +\infty); L^2_{df}\right) \cap$

 $L^{2}\left([0,+\infty);\dot{H}^{1}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}\right)\right) \text{ is a Leray weak solution to the Navier-Stokes equation if for all }\phi \in C_{c}^{\infty}\left((0,+\infty)\times\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{R}^{3}\right), \nabla\cdot\phi=0,$

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left(u \cdot \partial_{t} \phi + \nu u \cdot \Delta \phi + u \otimes u : \nabla \phi \right) dx dt = 0, \tag{1.12}$$

and for all t > 0

$$\frac{1}{2} \|u(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 + \nu \int_0^t \|u(\cdot,\tau)\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 d\tau \le \frac{1}{2} \|u^0\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(1.13)

We will note that this definition can also be generalized to the case with a nonzero external force, $f \neq 0$. Leray proved the existence of weak solutions in this class for all initial data $u^0 \in L^2_{df}$ by mollifying the advection term with some smooth mollifier θ , replacing $(u \cdot \nabla)u$ with $((\theta * u) \cdot \nabla) u$. This mollification guarantees the existence of smooth solutions globally in time to the mollified equation, and furthermore these solutions to the mollified equation satisfy an energy equality, which is (1.13) with equality. Passing to weak limits, we obtain a weak solution satisfying the energy inequality, which now does not necessarily hold with equality because the solutions to the mollified equation only converge weakly in $C_t L^2_x \cap L^2_t \dot{H}^1_x$, and do not necessarily converge in norm. The proof of existence by weak convergence of solutions to the mollified problem also means that Leray weak solutions may not be unique.

For solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation denote the energy by

$$K(t) = \frac{1}{2} \|u(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(1.14)

The energy inequality (1.13) holds with equality for smooth solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations, but a weak solution in $u \in L^{\infty}([0, +\infty); L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)) \cap L^2([0, +\infty); \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3))$ does not have enough regularity for us to integrate by parts to conclude that $\langle (u \cdot \nabla)u, u \rangle = 0$, which is what is needed to prove that the energy equality holds.

While the global existence of Leray solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations is well established, the global existence of smooth solutions remains a major open problem. Because Leray solutions are not necessarily smooth, they are not the best adapted to studying the Navier-Stokes regularity problem. For this reason we will turn our focus to mild solutions, a notion of solution better adapted to the Navier-Stokes regularity problem that was introduced by Kato and Fujita in [18]. Before defining mild solutions, we will define the Helmholtz decomposition.

Proposition 1.3 (Helmholtz decomposition). Suppose $1 < q < +\infty$. For all $v \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ there exists a unique $u \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$, $\nabla \cdot u = 0$ and $\nabla f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $v = u + \nabla f$. Note because we do not have any assumptions of higher regularity, we will say that $\nabla \cdot u = 0$, if for all $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} u \cdot \nabla \phi = 0, \tag{1.15}$$

and we will say that ∇f is a gradient if for all $w \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3), \nabla \cdot w = 0$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \nabla f \cdot w = 0. \tag{1.16}$$

Furthermore there exists $B_q \geq 1$ depending only on q, such that

$$\|u\|_{L^q} \le B_q \|v\|_{L^q},\tag{1.17}$$

and

$$\|\nabla f\|_{L^q} \le B_q \|v\|_{L^q}. \tag{1.18}$$

Define $P_{df} : L^q(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \to L^q(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $P_g : L^q(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \to L^q(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ by $P_{df}(v) = u$ and $P_g(v) = \nabla f$, where v, u, and ∇f are taken as above.

Furthermore, suppose $-\frac{3}{2} < s < \frac{3}{2}$. Then for all $v \in \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ there exists a unique $u \in \dot{H}^s_{df}, \nabla f \in \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $u = v + \nabla f$ and

$$\|v\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2} = \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2} + \|\nabla f\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2}.$$
(1.19)

Likewise define P_{df} : $\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3) \to \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)$ and P_g : $\dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3) \to \dot{H}^s(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)$ by $P_{df}(v) = u$ and $P_g(v) = \nabla f$, where v, u, and ∇f are taken as above.

This is a well-known, classical result. For details, see for instance [35]. We will also note here that the L^q bounds above are equivalent to the L^q boundedness of the Riesz transform. Take the Riesz transform to be given by $R = \nabla (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$, then $P_{df}(v) = R \times (R \times v)$, and $P_g(v) = -R(R \cdot v)$. P_{df} is often referred to as the Leray projection because of its use by Leray in developing weak solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation.

Note that $P_{df}(\nabla p) = 0$, so the Helmholtz decomposition allows us to define solutions to the incompressible Navier-Stokes equation without making any reference to pressure at all. With this technical detail out of the way, we will now define mild solutions of the Navier-Stokes equation.

Definition 1.4 (Mild solutions). Suppose $u \in C\left([0,T]; \dot{H}^1_{df}\right) \cap L^2\left([0,T]; \dot{H}^2\left(\mathbb{R}^3\right)\right)$. Then u is a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with external force $f \in L^2\left([0,T]; L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^3\right)\right)$ if

$$u(\cdot,t) = e^{\nu t\Delta} u^0 + \int_0^t e^{\nu(t-\tau)\Delta} P_{df} \left((-u \cdot \nabla)u + f \right) (\cdot,\tau) d\tau, \qquad (1.20)$$

where $e^{t\Delta}$ is the heat operator given by convolution with the heat kernel; that is to say, $e^{t\Delta}u^0$ is the solution of the heat equation after time t, with initial data u^0 .

Fujita and Kato proved the local existence of mild solutions for initial data in \dot{H}_{df}^1 in [18], a result we will state precisely below. In fact, mild solutions exist for initial data in \dot{H}_{df}^s , $s > \frac{1}{2}$. This was later extended to initial data in L_{df}^q , q > 3 by Kato in [26].

Theorem 1.5 (Mild solutions exist for short times). Suppose f = 0. Then there exists a constant C > 0, independent of ν , such that for all $u^0 \in \dot{H}^1_{df}$, for all $0 < T < \frac{C\nu^3}{\|u^0\|_{\dot{H}^1}^4}$, there exists a unique mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left([0,T]; \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)\right)$. Furthermore for all $0 < \epsilon < T$, $u \in C\left([\epsilon,T]; \dot{H}^\alpha(\mathbb{R}^3)\right)$ for all $\alpha > 1$, and therefore $u \in C^\infty\left((0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3\right)$.

In the case where $f \neq 0$ for all $u^0 \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3), \nabla \cdot u = 0$ and all $f \in L^2_{loc}((0,T^*); L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ there exists $0 < T \leq T^*$ and $u \in C([0,T]; \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)) \cap L^2([0,T]; \dot{H}^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ such that u is the unique mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation. Note that mild solutions with a non-smooth force are not smooth in general, because the bootstrapping argument will not work in this case.

The proof is based on a Picard iteration scheme, as the map associated with Definition 1.4,

$$T(u) = e^{\nu t \Delta} u^0 + \int_0^t e^{\nu (t-\tau)\Delta} P_{df} \left(-(u \cdot \nabla)u + f \right) (\cdot, \tau) d\tau, \qquad (1.21)$$

is a contraction mapping from L_{df}^q to L_{df}^q , for q > 3 and for sufficiently small times. These arguments, however, cannot guarantee the existence of a smooth solutions for arbitrarily large times. When discussing regularity for the Navier-Stokes equation it is useful to define T_{max} , the maximal time of existence for a smooth solution corresponding to some initial data.

Definition 1.6 (Maximial time of existence). For all $u^0 \in \dot{H}^1_{df}$, if there is a mild solution of the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left([0, +\infty); \dot{H}^1_{df}\right)$, $u(\cdot, 0) = u^0$, then $T_{max} = +\infty$. If there is not a mild solution globally in time with initial data u^0 , then let $T_{max} < +\infty$ be the time such that $u \in C\left([0, T_{max}); \dot{H}^1_{df}\right)$, $u(\cdot, 0) = u^0$, is a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation that cannot be extended beyond T_{max} . That is, for all $T > T_{max}$ there is no mild solution $u \in C\left([0, T); \dot{H}^1_{df}\right)$, $u(\cdot, 0) = u^0$.

It remains one of the biggest open questions in nonlinear PDEs, indeed one of the Millennium Problems put forward by the Clay Mathematics Institute, whether the Navier-Stokes equation has smooth solutions globally in time for arbitrary smooth initial data [17]. Note in particular that the Clay Millennium problem can be equivalently stated in terms of Definition 1.6 as: if f = 0, show $T_{max} = +\infty$ for all initial data $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$, or provide a counterexample.

Theorem 1.5 states that a solution must exist locally in time for all initial data $u^0 \in \dot{H}^1$, which implies that in order for a mild solution to develop singularities in finite time it must blow up in \dot{H}^1 . The square of the \dot{H}^1 norm for solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation is known as enstrophy, and can be defined equivalently as

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{2} \|u(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(1.22)

We will prove the equivalence of these definitions in chapter 3.

It is well known that

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -\nu \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + \langle S, \omega \otimes \omega \rangle.$$

$$(1.23)$$

Using the Sobolev embedding of $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ into $L^6(\mathbb{R}^3)$ it follows from (1.23) that

$$\partial_t \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le C \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^6, \tag{1.24}$$

which is sufficient to guarantee regularity at least locally in time, but cannot prevent blowup because it is a cubic differential inequality.

In chapter 3 of this thesis, we will prove the following identity for enstrophy growth:

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - \frac{4}{3} \int \operatorname{tr}(S^3).$$
(1.25)

Using the fact that S must be trace free, because $tr(S) = \nabla \cdot u = 0$, this identity can also be expressed in terms of the determinant of S as

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - 4\int \det(S).$$
(1.26)

The nonlinearity in (1.26) is still of the same degree as in (1.23). Both nonlinearities are of degree 3, and so cannot be controlled by the dissipation in either case, however the identity (1.26) does have several advantages. First, unlike (1.23), this identity is entirely local. The identity (1.23) is nonlocal with a singular integral kernel, because S can be determined in terms of ω with a zeroth order pseudo-differential operator, $S = \nabla_{sym}(-\Delta)^{-1}\nabla \times \omega$. The identity (1.26) also reveals very significant information about the relationship between blowup and the eigenvalues of the strain tensor S. In fact, this identity leads to a new regularity criterion in terms of the middle eigenvalue of the strain tensor that encodes information about the geometric structure of potential blow-up solutions.

Theorem 1.7 (Middle eigenvalue of strain characterizes blowup time). Let $u \in C([0,T]; \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3))$ for all $T < T_{max}$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with f = 0, and let $\lambda_1(x) \leq \lambda_2(x) \leq \lambda_3(x)$ be the eigenvalues of the strain tensor $S(x) = \nabla_{sym}u(x)$. Let $\lambda_2^+(x) = \max\{\lambda_2(x), 0\}$. If $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, with $\frac{3}{2} < q \leq +\infty$, then

$$\|u(\cdot,T)\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \leq \|u^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \exp\left(C_{q} \int_{0}^{T} \|\lambda_{2}^{+}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt\right),$$
(1.27)

with the constant C_q depending only on q and ν . In particular if $T_{max} < +\infty$, where T_{max} is the maximal existence time for a smooth solution, then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|\lambda_{2}^{+}(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt = +\infty.$$
(1.28)

It goes back to the classic work of Kato [26] that smooth solutions must exist locally in time for any initial data $u^0 \in L^q_{df}$ when q > 3. In particular, this implies that a smooth solution of the Navier-Stokes equations developing singularities in finite time requires that the L^q norm of u must blow up for all q > 3. This was extended to the case q = 3 by Escauriaza, Seregin, and Šverák [16]. The regularity criteria implied by the local existence of smooth solutions for initial data in $L^q(\mathbb{R}^3)$ when q > 3 are all subcritical with respect to the scaling that preserves the solution set of the Navier-Stokes equations:

$$u^{\lambda}(x,t) = \lambda u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t). \tag{1.29}$$

If u is a solution to the Navier-Stokes equations on \mathbb{R}^3 , then so is u^{λ} for all $\lambda > 0$, although the time interval may have to be adjusted, depending on what notion of a solution (Leray-Hopf [36], mild, strong [18]) we are using. $L^3(\mathbb{R}^3)$ is the scale critical Lebesgue space for the Navier-Stokes equations, so the Escauriaza-Seregin-Šverák condition is scale critical.

Critical regularity criteria for solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations go back to the work of Prodi, Serrin, and Ladyzhenskaya [33,44,48], who proved that if a smooth solution blows up in finite time $T_{max} < +\infty$, then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|u\|_{L^{q}}^{p} dt = +\infty, \qquad (1.30)$$

where $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 1$, and $3 < q \leq +\infty$. This result was then extended in the aforementioned Escauriaza-Seregin-Šverák paper [16] to the endpoint case $p = +\infty, q = 3$. They proved that if a smooth solution u of the Navier-Stokes equation blows up in finite time $T_{max} < +\infty$, then

$$\limsup_{t \to T_{max}} \|u(\cdot, t)\|_{L^3(\mathbb{R}^3)} = +\infty.$$
(1.31)

Gallagher, Koch, and Planchon [21] also proved the above statement using a different approach based on profile decomposition. The other endpoint case of this family of criteria is the Beale-Kato-Majda criterion [3], which holds for solutions of the Euler as well as for Navier-Stokes, and states that if a smooth solution to either the Euler or Navier-Stokes equations develops singularities in finite time, then

$$\int_0^{T_{max}} \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\infty}} dt = +\infty.$$
(1.32)

This result was also extended to the strain tensor [27].

The regularity criterion in Theorem 1.7 also offers analytical evidence of the numerically observed tendency [19] of the vorticity to align with the eigenvector corresponding to the intermediate eigenvalue λ_2 . If it is true that the vorticity tends to align with the intermediate eigenvalue we would heuristically expect that

$$tr(S(x)\omega(x)\otimes\omega(x))\sim\lambda_2(x)|\omega(x)|^2.$$
 (1.33)

We would then heuristically expect that

$$\langle S; \omega \otimes \omega \rangle \sim \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \lambda_2(x) |\omega(x)|^2 dx,$$
 (1.34)

and so we would expect that there would be some inequality of the form

$$\langle S; \omega \otimes \omega \rangle \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \lambda_2^+(x) |\omega(x)|^2 dx.$$
 (1.35)

This is all, of course, entirely heuristic, but it is interesting that the regularity criterion we have proven is precisely of the form that would be predicted by the observed tendency of the vorticity to align with the eigenvector associated with the intermediate eigenvalue. This suggests that significant information about the geometric structure of incompressible flow is encoded in the regularity criterion in Theorem 1.7.

The family of regularity criteria in (1.30) has since been generalized to the critical Besov spaces [1, 13, 22, 29, 30, 43]. These criteria have also been generalized to criteria controlling the pressure [46, 49, 52]. In addition to strengthening regularity criteria to larger spaces, there have also been results not involving all the components of u, for instance regularity criteria on the gradient of one component ∇u_j [54], involving only the derivative in one direction, $\partial_{x_j} u$ [32], involving only one component u_j [7,11], involving only one component of the gradient tensor $\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i}$ [4], and involving only two components of the vorticity [6]. For a more thorough overview of the literature on regularity criteria for solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation see Chapter 11 in [35]. We will discuss the relationship between these results and Theorem 1.7 in chapter 5, where we will prove the following critical one direction type regularity criterion for a range of exponents for which no critical one component regularity criteria were previously known. First we must define, for any unit vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^3$, |v| = 1, the directional derivative in the v direction, which is given by $\partial_v = v \cdot \nabla$, and the v-th component of u, which is given by $u_v = u \cdot v$.

Theorem 1.8 (One direction regularity criterion). Let $\{v_n(t)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ with $|v_n(t)| = 1$. Let $\{\Omega_n(t)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ be Lebesgue measurable sets such that for all $m \neq n$, $\Omega_m(t) \cap \Omega_n(t) = \emptyset$, and $\mathbb{R}^3 = \bigcup_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \Omega_n(t)$. Let $u \in C\left([0,T]; \dot{H}^1_{df}\right)$, for all $T < T_{max}$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with f = 0. If $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, with $\frac{3}{2} < q \leq +\infty$, then

$$\|u(\cdot,T)\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \leq \|u^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \exp\left(C_{q} \int_{0}^{T} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\|\frac{1}{2}\partial_{v_{n}}u(\cdot,t) + \frac{1}{2}\nabla u_{v_{n}}(\cdot,t)\right\|_{L^{q}(\Omega_{n}(t))}^{q}\right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dt\right), \quad (1.36)$$

with the constant C_q depending only on q and ν . In particular if the maximal existence time for a smooth solution $T_{max} < +\infty$, then

$$\int_0^{T_{max}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^\infty \left\| \partial_{v_n} u(\cdot, t) + \nabla u_{v_n}(\cdot, t) \right\|_{L^q(\Omega_n(t))}^q \right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dt = +\infty.$$
(1.37)

Note that if we take $v_n(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then (1.37) reduces to

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|\partial_{3}u(\cdot,t) + \nabla u_{3}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt = +\infty.$$
(1.38)

Theorem 1.8 is in fact a corollary of the following more general theorem, which states that for a solution of the Navier-Stokes equation to blow up, the strain must blow up in every direction.

Theorem 1.9 (Blowup requires the strain to blow up in every direction). Let $u \in C\left([0,T]; \dot{H}_{df}^{1}\right)$, for all $T < T_{max}$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with f = 0 and let $v \in L^{\infty}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3} \times [0, T_{max}]; \mathbb{R}^{3}\right)$, with |v(x, t)| = 1 almost everywhere. If $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, with $\frac{3}{2} < q \leq +\infty$, then

$$\|u(\cdot,T)\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \leq \|u^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \exp\left(C_{q} \int_{0}^{T} \|S(\cdot,t)v(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt\right),$$
(1.39)

with the constant C_q depending only on q and ν . In particular if the maximal existence time for a smooth solution $T_{max} < +\infty$, then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|S(\cdot, t)v(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt = +\infty.$$
(1.40)

Note that like the Prodi-Serrin-Ladyzhenskaya regularity criterion, the regularity criteria

we prove on λ_2^+ and $\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3$ are critical with respect to scaling. The reason we require that $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, not $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 1$ is because λ_2 is an eigenvalue of S, and therefore scales like $\nabla \otimes u$, not like u. In addition, both regularity criteria, as well as Theorem 1.7, can be generalized to the Navier-Stokes equation with an external force $f \in L_t^2 L_x^2$, which will be discussed in chapter 5, but is left out of the introduction for the sake of brevity.

Remark 1.10. After circulating a preprint of his paper [41], the author learned of previous work by Dongho Chae on the role of the eigenvalues of the strain matrix in enstrophy growth in the context of the Euler equation [5]. In this paper, Chae proves that sufficiently smooth solutions to the Euler equation satisfy the following growth identity for enstrophy:

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -4 \int \det(S).$$
 (1.41)

This is analogous to what we have proven for the growth of enstrophy for solution of the Navier-Stokes equation (1.26) without the dissipation term, because the Euler equation has no viscosity. The methods used are somewhat different than ours; in particular the constraint space for the strain tensor and the evolution equation for the strain tensor are not used in [5]. While it is possible to establish the identity (1.25) without an analysis of the constraint space, we expect the results characterizing the constraint space in this paper, particularly Proposition 2.3 and Proposition 2.4, to be useful in future investigations. Chae also proves the $q = +\infty$ case of the regularity criterion in Theorem 1.7, but this criterion is new for the rest of the range of parameters. We will discuss the relationship between our method of proof and that in [5] in more detail after we have proven the identity (1.25), which is Corollary 3.3 in this paper. The author would like to thank Alexander Kiselev for bringing Chae's paper to his attention.

While global regularity for the Navier-Stokes equation with arbitrary, smooth initial data remains a major open problem, it is known that the Navier-Stokes equation must have global smooth solutions for small initial data in certain scale-critical function spaces. In particular, Fujita and Kato also proved in [18] the global existence of smooth solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation for small initial data in $\dot{H}_{df}^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

Theorem 1.11 (Global regularity for small initial data). Suppose f = 0. There exists C > 0, independent of ν , such that for all $u^0 \in \dot{H}_{df}^{\frac{1}{2}}, \|u^0\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} < C\nu$, there exists a unique global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left([0, +\infty); \dot{H}_{df}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \cap C^{\infty}\left((0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3\right), u(\cdot, 0) = u^0.$

This result was then extended to L^3 by Kato [26] and to BMO^{-1} by Koch and Tataru [28]. We will note here that the Navier-Stokes equation is invariant under the rescaling $u^{\lambda}(x,t) = \lambda u(\lambda x, \lambda^2 t)$, and therefore u^0 generates a global smooth solution if and only if, $u^{0,\lambda}(x) = \lambda u^0(\lambda x)$ generates a global smooth solution for all $\lambda > 0$. It is easy to check that each of these norms are invariant with respect to this rescaling of the initial data.

In chapter 6 of this thesis, we will establish a new result guaranteeing the existence of global smooth solutions for initial data that are arbitrarily large, so long two components of the vorticity are sufficiently small in the critical Hilbert space.

Theorem 1.12 (Global regularity for two components of vorticity small). Let $R_1 = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2\sqrt{2}}\pi$, $R_2 = \frac{32\pi^4}{3(1+\sqrt{2})^4}$. Let $\omega_h = (\omega_1, \omega_2, 0)$ and let f = 0. For all $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$ such at

$$\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{K_0 E_0 - 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4}{R_2 \nu^3}\right) < R_1 \nu, \tag{1.42}$$

 u^0 generates a unique, global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left((0, +\infty); H^1_{df}\right)$, that is $T_{max} = +\infty$. Note that the smallness condition can be equivalently stated as

$$K_0 E_0 < 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4 + R_2 \nu^3 \log\left(\frac{R_1 \nu}{\|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}}\right).$$
(1.43)

Very little is known in general about the existence of smooth solutions globally in time with arbitrarily large initial data. Ladyzhenskaya proved the existence of global smooth solutions for swirl-free axisymmetric initial data [34], which gives a whole family of arbitrarily large initial data with globally smooth solutions. Mahalov, Titi, and Leibovich showed global regularity for solutions with a helical symmetry in [40]. In light of the Koch-Tataru theorem guaranteeing global regularity for small initial data in BMO^{-1} , it has been an active area of research to find examples of solutions that are large in BMO^{-1} that generate global smooth solutions, or even stronger, to find initial data large in $B_{\infty,\infty}^{-1} \supset BMO^{-1}$, which is the maximal scale invariant space. Because both swirl free, axisymetric vector fields and helically symmetric vector fields form subspaces of divergence free vector fields, clearly these are examples of initial data large in $B_{\infty,\infty}^{-1}$. Gallagher and Chemin showed the existence of initial data that generate global smooth solutions that are large in $B_{\infty,\infty}^{-1}$ on the torus by taking highly oscillatory initial data [8]. More recently Kukavica, Rusin, and Ziane exhibited a class of non-oscillatory initial data, large in $B_{\infty,\infty}^{-1}$, that generate global smooth solutions [31].

Unlike the three dimensional case, there are global smooth solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation in two dimensions. This is because in two dimensions the energy equality is scale critical, while in three dimensions the energy inequality is supercritical. This is also because vortex stretching occurs in three dimensions, but not in two dimensions, so the enstrophy is decreasing for solutions of the two dimensional Navier-Stokes equations. Given that the Navier-Stokes equation has global smooth solutions in two dimensions, one natural approach to the extending small data regularity results to arbitrarily large initial data, would be to show global regularity for the solutions that are, in some sense, approximately two dimensional.

There are also a number of previous results guaranteeing global regularity for solutions three dimensional solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations with almost two dimensional initial data. One approach to almost two dimensional initial data on the torus is to consider three dimensional initial data that is a perturbation of two dimensional initial data. Note that this approach is available on the torus, because $L^2_{df}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ forms a subspace of $L^2_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$, so we can consider perturbations of this subspace. It is not, however, available on the whole space, as nonzero vector fields in $L^2_{df}(\mathbb{R}^2)$, lose integrability when extended to three dimensions under the map above, and so $L^2_{df}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ does not define a subspace of $L^2_{df}(\mathbb{R}^3)$. If timie proved that small perturbations of two dimensional initial data must have smooth solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation globally in time. Another approach is based on re-scaling, to make the the initial data vary slowly in one direction. This approach was used by Gallagher and Chemin in [9] and extended by Gallagher, Chemin, and Paicu in [10] and by Paicu and Zhang in [42]. We will prove global regularity based on rescaling the vorticity, rather than the velocity, as this rescaling operates better with the divergence free constraint. The result we will prove is the following.

Theorem 1.13 (Global regularity for rescaled vorticity). Fix a > 0. For all $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$, $0 < \epsilon < 1$ let

$$\omega^{0,\epsilon}(x) = \epsilon^{\frac{2}{3}} \left(\log\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^a}\right) \right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\epsilon \omega_1^0, \epsilon \omega_2^0, \omega_3^0 \right) (x_1, x_2, \epsilon x_3), \tag{1.44}$$

and define $u^{0,\epsilon}$ using the Biot-Savart law by

$$u^{0,\epsilon} = \nabla \times (-\Delta)^{-1} \omega^{0,\epsilon}.$$
(1.45)

For all $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$ and for all $0 < a < \frac{4R_2\nu^3}{C_2^2 \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2 \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2}$, there exists $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $0 < \epsilon < 1$

 ϵ_0 , there is a unique, global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left((0, +\infty); H^1_{df}\right)$ with $u(\cdot, 0) = u^{0,\epsilon}$. Furthermore if ω_3^0 is not identically zero, then the initial vorticity is large in the critical space $L^{\frac{3}{2}}$, as $\epsilon \to 0$, that is

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left\| \omega^{0,\epsilon} \right\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} = +\infty.$$
(1.46)

In chapter 2, we will derive an evolution equation for the strain tensor and define mild solutions to the strain and vorticity equations. In chapter 3, we will prove an isometry showing the equivalence of defining the enstrophy in terms of the strain and in terms of the vorticity, and we will prove a new identity for enstrophy growth. In chapter 4, we will consider the question of maximal enstrophy growth locally in time. In chapter 5, we will prove Theorem 1.7, the regularity criterion on λ_2^+ , as well as a number of immediate corollaries. In chapter 6, we will consider a vorticity approach to almost two dimensional initial data, proving Theorem 1.12. In chapter 7, we will discuss the relationship between this result and previous global regularity results for almost two dimensional initial data. In chapter 8, we will prove the existence and stability of blowup for a toy model ODE of the strain equation. Finally, in chapter 9, we will consider the strain equation in two dimensions.

Chapter 2

Evolution equation for the strain tensor

We will begin this chapter by deriving the Navier-Stokes strain equation (1.5) in three spatial dimensions.

Proposition 2.1 (Strain reformulation of the dynamics). Suppose u is a classical solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with external force f. Then $S = \nabla_{sym}(u)$ is a classical solution to the Navier-Stokes strain equation

$$\partial_t S + (u \cdot \nabla) S - \nu \Delta S + S^2 + \frac{1}{4} \omega \otimes \omega - \frac{1}{4} |\omega|^2 I_3 + \text{Hess}(p) = \nabla_{sym} f.$$
(2.1)

Proof. We begin by applying the operator ∇_{sym} to the Navier-Stokes Equation (1.1); we find immediately that

$$\partial_t S - \nu \Delta S + \text{Hess}(p) + \nabla_{sym} \left((u \cdot \nabla) u \right) = \nabla_{sym} f.$$
 (2.2)

It remains to compute $\nabla_{sym} \left((u \cdot \nabla) u \right)$.

$$\nabla_{sym} \left((u \cdot \nabla) u \right)_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{x_i} \sum_{k=1}^3 u_k \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_k} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{x_j} \sum_{k=1}^3 u_k \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_k}.$$
 (2.3)

$$\nabla_{sym} \left((u \cdot \nabla) u \right)_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} u_k \partial_{x_k} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} + \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j} \right) \right) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \frac{\partial u_k}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_k} + \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_k} \frac{\partial u_k}{\partial x_j}.$$
(2.4)

We can see from our definitions of S and A that

$$S_{ij}^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \left(\frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{i}} + \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{k}} \right) \left(\frac{\partial u_{j}}{\partial x_{k}} + \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} \right) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{i}} \frac{\partial u_{j}}{\partial x_{k}} + \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{k}} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{i}} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} + \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} + \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} + \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} + \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} + \frac{\partial u_{k}$$

and

$$A_{ij}^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \left(\frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{i}} - \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{k}} \right) \left(\frac{\partial u_{j}}{\partial x_{k}} - \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} \right) = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{3} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{i}} \frac{\partial u_{j}}{\partial x_{k}} + \frac{\partial u_{i}}{\partial x_{k}} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} - \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{i}} \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} - \frac{\partial u_{k}}{\partial x_{k}} \frac{\partial u_{j}}{\partial x_{k}}.$$

$$(2.6)$$

Taking the sum of these two equation, we find that

$$\left(S^2 + A^2\right)_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^3 \frac{\partial u_k}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_k} + \frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_k} \frac{\partial u_k}{\partial x_j}.$$
(2.7)

From this we can conclude that

$$\nabla_{sym} \left((u \cdot \nabla) u \right) = (u \cdot \nabla) S + S^2 + A^2.$$
(2.8)

Recall that

$$A = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \omega_3 & -\omega_2 \\ -\omega_3 & 0 & \omega_1 \\ \omega_2 & -\omega_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (2.9)

so we can express A^2 as

$$A^{2} = \frac{1}{4}\omega \otimes \omega - \frac{1}{4}|\omega|^{2}I_{3}.$$
(2.10)

This concludes the proof.

We also can see that $\operatorname{tr}(S) = \nabla \cdot u = 0$, so in order to maintain the divergence free structure of the flow, we require that the strain tensor be trace free. For the vorticity the only consistency condition is that the vorticity be divergence free. Any divergence free vorticity can be inverted back to a unique velocity field, assuming suitable decay at infinity, with $u = \nabla \times (-\Delta)^{-1} \omega$. This is not true of the strain tensor, for which an additional consistency condition is required.

If we know the strain tensor S, this is enough for us to reconstruct the flow. We take

$$-2\operatorname{div}(S) = -\Delta u - \nabla(\nabla \cdot u) = -\Delta u. \tag{2.11}$$

Therefore we find that

$$u = -2 \operatorname{div}(-\Delta)^{-1} S.$$
 (2.12)

This allows us to reconstruct the flow u from the strain tensor S, but it doesn't guarantee that if we start with a general trace free symmetric matrix, the u we reconstruct will actually have this symmetric matrix as its strain tensor. We will need to define a consistency condition guaranteeing that the strain tensor is actually the symmetric part of the gradient of some divergence free vector field. This condition for the strain equation will play the same role that the divergence free condition plays in the vorticity equation. We will now define the subspace of strain matrices $L_{st}^2 \subset L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; S^{3\times 3})$ as follows:

Definition 2.2 (Strain subspace). We will define the subspace of strain matrices to be

$$L_{st}^{2} = \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \nabla \otimes u + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \otimes u)^{*} : u \in \dot{H}^{1} \left(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{R}^{3} \right), \nabla \cdot u = 0 \right\}.$$

$$(2.13)$$

This subspace of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; S^{3\times 3})$ can in fact be characterized by a partial differential equation, although in this case, it is significantly more complicated than the equation $\nabla \cdot u = 0$, that characterizes the space of divergence free vector fields.

Proposition 2.3 (Characterization of the strain subspace). Suppose $S \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; S^{3\times 3})$. Then

 $S \in L^2_{st}$ if and only if

$$\operatorname{tr}(S) = 0, \tag{2.14}$$

$$-\Delta S + 2\nabla_{sym} \left(\operatorname{div}(S) \right) = -\Delta S + (\nabla \otimes \nabla)S + \left((\nabla \otimes \nabla)S \right)^* = 0.$$
(2.15)

Note that because by hypothesis we only have $S \in L^2$, we will consider S to be a solution to (2.15) if the condition is satisfied pointwise almost everywhere in Fourier space, that is if

$$|\xi|^2 \hat{S}(\xi) - (\xi \otimes \xi) \hat{S}(\xi) - \hat{S}(\xi) (\xi \otimes \xi) = 0, \qquad (2.16)$$

almost everywhere $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^3$. The partial differential equation (2.15) can be written out in components as

$$-\Delta S_{ij} + \sum_{k=1}^{3} \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_k} S_{kj} + \partial_{x_j} \partial_{x_k} S_{ki} = 0.$$
(2.17)

Proof. First suppose $S \in L^2_{st}$, so there exists a $u \in \dot{H}^1$, $\nabla \cdot u = 0$, such that

$$S = \nabla_{sym} u. \tag{2.18}$$

As we have already shown, $tr(S) = \nabla \cdot u = 0$. Next we will take the divergence of (2.18), and find that,

$$-2\operatorname{div}(S) = -2\operatorname{div}(\nabla_{sym}u) = -\Delta u - \nabla(\nabla \cdot u) = -\Delta u.$$
(2.19)

Applying ∇_{sym} to (2.19) we find that

$$-2\nabla_{sym}(\operatorname{div}(S)) = \nabla_{sym}(-\Delta u) = -\Delta S, \qquad (2.20)$$

so the condition (2.15) is also satisfied.

Now suppose tr(S) = 0 and $-\Delta S + 2\nabla_{sym}(\operatorname{div}(S)) = 0$. Define u by

$$u = (-\Delta)^{-1} (-2\operatorname{div}(S)).$$
(2.21)

Applying ∇_{sym} to this definition we find that

$$\nabla_{sym} u = (-\Delta)^{-1} \left(-2\nabla_{sym} (\operatorname{div}(S)) \right) = (-\Delta)^{-1} (-\Delta S) = S.$$
(2.22)

Clearly $u \in \dot{H}^1$ because $S \in L^2$ and $(-\Delta)^{-1}(-2 \operatorname{div})$ is a pseudo-differential operator with order -1. It only remains to show that $\nabla \cdot u = 0$. Next we will take the trace of (2.17) and find that

$$(\operatorname{div})^2(S) = \sum_{i,j=1}^3 \partial_{x_i} \partial_{x_j} S_{ij} = 0.$$
 (2.23)

Using this we compute that

$$\nabla \cdot u = (-\Delta)^{-1} (-2(\operatorname{div})^2(S)) = 0.$$
(2.24)

This completes the proof.

Note that the consistency condition (2.15) is linear, so the set of matrices satisfying

it form a subspace of L^2 . The Navier-Stokes equation (1.1) and the vorticity equation (1.4) can best be viewed not as systems of equations, but as evolution equations on the space of divergence free vector fields. Similarly, we can view the Navier-Stokes strain equation (1.5) as an evolution equation on L_{st}^2 .

When compared with the vorticity equation, the evolution equation for the strain tensor, while it requires additional terms, has a quadratic nonlinearity whose structure is far better from an algebraic point of view. This is because a vector cannot be squared, and the square of an anti-symmetric matrix (the other representation of vorticity) is a symmetric matrix, while the square of a symmetric matrix is again a symmetric matrix.

The Navier-Stokes strain equation has already been examined in [14, 19, 23], however the consistency condition (2.15) does not play a role in this analysis. The role of the strain was also considered by Chae in [5], although the evolution equation for strain does not play a role in this analysis. In [19], the authors focus on the relationship between vorticity and the strain tensor in enstrophy production, as the strain tensor and vorticity are related by a linear zero order pseudo-differential operator, $S = \nabla_{sym}(-\Delta)^{-1}\nabla \times \omega$. However, the consistency condition is actually very useful in dealing with the evolution of the strain tensor, because a number of the terms in the evolution equation (1.5) are actually in the orthogonal complement of L_{st}^2 with respect to the L^2 inner product. This will allow us to prove an identity for enstrophy growth involving only the strain, where previous identities involved the interaction of the strain and the vorticity. We will now make an observation about what matrices in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; S^{3\times3})$ are in the orthogonal complement of L_{st}^2 with respect to the L^2 inner product.

Proposition 2.4 (Orthogonal subspaces). For all $f \in \dot{H}^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, for all $g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, and for all $S \in L^2_{st}$

$$\langle S, gI_3 \rangle = 0, \tag{2.25}$$

$$\langle S, \operatorname{Hess}(f) \rangle = 0.$$
 (2.26)

Proof. First we'll consider the case of gI_3 . Fix $S \in L^2_{st}$ and we'll take the inner product

$$\langle gI_3, S \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \sum_{i,j=1}^3 gI_{ij} S_{ij} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} tr(S)g = 0.$$
 (2.27)

In order to show that $\operatorname{Hess}(f) \in (L_{st}^2)^{\perp}$, we will use the property that for $S \in L_{st}^2$

$$tr\left((\nabla \otimes \nabla)S\right) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \partial x_i \partial x_j S_{ij} = 0.$$
(2.28)

Because $S \in L^2$ and therefore $\hat{S} \in L^2$, the above condition can be expressed as

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \xi_i \xi_j \hat{S}_{ij}(\xi) = 0, \qquad (2.29)$$

almost everywhere $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^3$. Using the fact that the Fourier transform is an isometry on L^2 , and

 $\operatorname{Hess}(f), S \in L^2$ we compute that

$$\langle \operatorname{Hess}(f), S \rangle = \left\langle \widehat{\operatorname{Hess}(f)}, \hat{S} \right\rangle = -4\pi^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \bar{\hat{f}}(\xi) \sum_{i,j=1}^3 \xi_i \xi_j \hat{S}_{ij}(\xi) d\xi = 0.$$
(2.30)

This completes the proof.

This means that as long as u is sufficiently regular, Hess(p) and $-\frac{1}{4}|\omega|^2 I_3$ are in the orthogonal compliment of L_{st}^2 . This fact will play a key role in the new identity for enstrophy growth that we will prove in chapter 3.

Note that u is uniquely determined in terms of both S and ω . We have already established that u can be reconstructed from S using the formula $u = -2 \operatorname{div}(-\Delta)^{-1}S$. Likewise we know that $\nabla \times \omega = -\Delta u$, so u can be reconstructed from the vorticity using the formula u = $\nabla \times (-\Delta)^{-1}\omega$. This in particular means that S can be determined in terms of ω and vice versa with zero order pseudo-differential operators as follows: $S = \nabla_{sym} \nabla \times (-\Delta)^{-1}\omega$, and $\omega = -2\nabla \times \operatorname{div}(-\Delta)^{-1}S$. This in particular makes it possible to define mild solutions to the strain equation or the vorticity equation purely in terms of S and ω respectively.

Before we proceed further, we need to show the existence of solutions to the Navier-Stokes strain equation in a suitable space. Leray solutions are not the most well adapted to studying regularity, which is our focus, so we will work with mild solutions developed by Kato and Fujita instead [18]. Using the \dot{H}^1 mild solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation in Theorem 1.5, we will adapt these solutions to define for mild solutions in L^2 for the Navier-Stokes strain equation and the vorticity equation. We will define L^2 solutions to the strain evolution equation as follows.

Definition 2.5 (Mild strain solutions). Suppose $S \in C([0,T]; L^2_{st}) \cap L^2([0,T]: \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3))$. Then we will call S a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes strain equation (1.5) with external force $f \in L^2([0,T]; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ if and only if for all $0 < t \leq T$,

$$S(\cdot,t) = e^{\nu t \Delta} S^0 + \int_0^t e^{\nu(t-\tau)\Delta} \left(-(u \cdot \nabla)S - S^2 - \frac{1}{4}\omega \otimes \omega + \frac{1}{4}|\omega|^2 I_3 - \operatorname{Hess}(p) + \nabla_{sym} f \right)(\cdot,\tau)d\tau, \quad (2.31)$$

where $u = -2 \operatorname{div}(-\Delta)^{-1}S$, $\omega = \nabla \times u$, and $p = (-\Delta)^{-1} \left(|S|^2 - \frac{1}{2}|\omega|^2 - \nabla \cdot f \right)$

We will define L^2 mild solutions to the vorticity equation likewise.

Definition 2.6 (Mild vorticity solutions). Suppose $\omega \in C\left([0,T]; L^2_{df}\right) \cap L^2\left([0,T]: \dot{H}^1\left(\mathbb{R}^3\right)\right)$. Then we will call ω a mild solution to the vorticity equation with external force $f \in L^2\left([0,T]; L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^3\right)\right)$ if and only if for all $0 < t \leq T$,

$$\omega(\cdot, t) = e^{\nu t \Delta} \omega^0 + \int_0^t e^{\nu(t-\tau)\Delta} \left(-(u \cdot \nabla)\omega + S\omega - \nabla \times f \right)(\cdot, \tau) d\tau, \qquad (2.32)$$

where $u = \nabla \times (-\Delta)^{-1} \omega$ and $S = \nabla_{sym} u$.

Proposition 2.7 (Equivalence of mild solutions). If $u \in C\left([0,T]; \dot{H}^1_{df}\right) \cap L^2\left([0,T]: \dot{H}^2\left(\mathbb{R}^3\right)\right)$ is a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with external force $f \in L^2\left([0,T]; L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^3\right)\right)$ then

 $S = \nabla_{sym} u$ is an L^2 mild solution to the Navier-Stokes strain equation and $\omega = \nabla \times u$ is an L^2 mild solution to the vorticity equation

Proof. By hypothesis u satisfies

$$u(x,t) = e^{\nu t \Delta} u^0 + \int_0^t e^{\nu(t-\tau)\Delta} P_{df} \left(-(u \cdot \nabla)u + f \right) d\tau.$$
(2.33)

Stated in terms of the pressure, rather than the projection P_{df} , this statement becomes

$$u(x,t) = e^{\nu t \Delta} u^0 + \int_0^t e^{\nu(t-\tau)\Delta} \left(-(u \cdot \nabla)u - \nabla p + f \right) d\tau.$$
(2.34)

When differentiating a convolution, the derivative can be applied to either function being convolved, so taking the curl of (2.34) and applying the differential operator to $-(u \cdot \nabla)u - \nabla p + f$ rather than the heat kernel, we find that

$$\omega(\cdot, t) = e^{\nu t \Delta} \omega^0 + \int_0^t e^{\nu(t-\tau)\Delta} \left(-(u \cdot \nabla)\omega + S\omega - \nabla \times f \right)(\cdot, \tau) d\tau.$$
(2.35)

Likewise if we take the symmetric part of the gradient of (2.34) we find that

$$S(\cdot,t) = e^{\nu t\Delta} S^0 + \int_0^t e^{\nu(t-\tau)\Delta} \left(-(u\cdot\nabla)S - S^2 - \frac{1}{4}\omega \otimes \omega + \frac{1}{4}|\omega|^2 I_3 - \operatorname{Hess}(p) + \nabla_{sym}f \right)(\cdot,\tau)d\tau. \quad (2.36)$$

This completes the proof.

We will note that Proposition 2.7 and Theorem 1.5 imply the existence of L^2 mild solutions to the strain and vorticity equations, simply by taking the curl or symmetric gradient of \dot{H}^1 mild solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation.

Chapter 3

Isometries and the enstrophy growth identity

We have already shown that S and ω are related to each other by zeroth order pseudo-differential operators. Because these zeroth order operators are related to the Riesz transform, which is bounded from L^q to L^q for $1 < q < +\infty$, the L^q norms of strain and vorticity are equivalent, but we will only have Calderon-Zygmund type estimates, so our control will be very bad. More precisely, for all $1 < q < +\infty$, there exists $B_q > 0$, such that $\frac{1}{B_q} \|\omega\|_{L^q} \leq \|S\|_{L^q} \leq B_q \|\omega\|_{L^q}$. We can say something much stronger in the case of L^2 , and in fact for every Hilbert space $\dot{H}^{\alpha}, -\frac{3}{2} < \alpha < \frac{3}{2}$.

Proposition 3.1 (Hilbert space isometries for strain and vorticity). For all $-\frac{3}{2} < \alpha < \frac{3}{2}$, and for all u divergence free in the sense that $\xi \cdot \hat{u}(\xi) = 0$ almost everywhere,

$$\|S\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} = \|A\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha+1}}^{2}.$$
(3.1)

Proof. First fix $s, -\frac{3}{2} < s < \frac{3}{2}$. We will begin relating the H^s norms of the anti-symmetric part and the vorticity. Recall that

$$A = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \omega_3 & -\omega_2 \\ -\omega_3 & 0 & \omega_1 \\ \omega_2 & -\omega_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (3.2)

Therefore, for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$,

$$|(-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}}A(x)|^{2} = \frac{1}{2}|(-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}}\omega(x)|^{2}.$$
(3.3)

Because in general we have that $||f||_{\dot{H}^s} = ||(-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}}f||_{L^2}$, it immediately follows that

$$\|A\|_{\dot{H}^s}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^s}^2.$$
(3.4)

Because u is divergence free, in Fourier space

$$|\hat{\omega}(\xi)| = |2\pi i\xi \times \hat{u}(\xi)| = 2\pi |\xi| |\hat{u}(\xi)| = |\widehat{\nabla \otimes u}(\xi)|.$$
(3.5)

From this we can conclude that

$$\|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^s}^2 = \|\nabla \otimes u\|_{\dot{H}^s}^2 = \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{s+1}}^2.$$
(3.6)

Finally we will compute

$$\left| (-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}} (\nabla \otimes u) \right|^2 = \operatorname{tr} \left(\left(-\Delta \right)^{\frac{s}{2}} S + (-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}} A \right) \left((-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}} S^* + (-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}} A^* \right) \right).$$
(3.7)

However, we know that the trace of the product of a symmetric matrix and an antisymmetric matrix is always zero, so we can immediately see that

$$\left| (-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}} (\nabla \otimes u) \right|^{2} = \left| (-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}} S \right|^{2} + \left| (-\Delta)^{\frac{s}{2}} A \right|^{2}.$$
(3.8)

From this it follows that

$$\|\nabla \otimes u\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2} = \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2} + \|A\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2}, \qquad (3.9)$$

but we have already established that

$$\|A\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla \otimes u\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2}, \qquad (3.10)$$

so we can conclude that

$$\|A\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2} = \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla \otimes u\|_{\dot{H}^{s}}^{2}.$$
(3.11)

This concludes the proof.

Now that we have established this isometry between vorticity and strain, we will proceed to proving an identity for enstrophy growth involving only S, not the interaction of S and ω .

Theorem 3.2 (Enstrophy growth identity). Suppose $S \in C([0,T]; L^2_{st}) \cap L^2([0,T]: \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3))$ is a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes strain equation. Then

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - \frac{4}{3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr}(S^3) + \langle -\Delta u, f \rangle \,, \tag{3.12}$$

almost everywhere $t \in (0, T]$.

Proof. Using (1.4), we can compute the rate of change of enstrophy

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -\nu \left\langle -\Delta\omega, \omega \right\rangle - \left\langle (u \cdot \nabla)\omega, \omega \right\rangle + \left\langle S\omega, \omega \right\rangle - \left\langle \nabla \times f, \omega \right\rangle.$$
(3.13)

Next we can integrate by parts to show that $\langle \nabla \times f, \omega \rangle = \langle f, -\Delta u \rangle$ and $\langle \omega, (u \cdot \nabla) \omega \rangle = 0$, using the divergence free condition in the latter case. Therefore we find that

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -\nu \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + \langle S; \omega \otimes \omega \rangle + \langle -\Delta u, f \rangle.$$
(3.14)

This is the standard identity for enstrophy growth, based on the interaction of the Strain matrix and the vorticity. See chapter 7 in [35] for more details. We can use the isometry in

Proposition 2.4 to restate (3.14) in terms of strain:

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + \langle S; \omega \otimes \omega \rangle + \langle -\Delta u, f \rangle.$$
(3.15)

However we can also calculate the L^2 growth of the strain tensor directly from our evolution equation for the strain tensor (1.5),

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \langle -\Delta S, S \rangle - 2 \langle (u \cdot \nabla)S, S \rangle - 2 \langle S^2, S \rangle - \frac{1}{2} \langle \omega \otimes \omega; S \rangle - 2 \langle \operatorname{Hess}(p), S \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle |\omega|^2 I_3, S \rangle + 2 \langle \nabla_{sym} f, S \rangle.$$
(3.16)

Integrating by parts we know that $\langle (u \cdot \nabla)S, S \rangle = 0$. Note that $S \in C([0, T], L^2) \cap L^2((0, T], \dot{H}^1)$. In particular this implies that $S(\cdot, t), \omega(\cdot, t) \in L^2 \cap L^6$ almost everywhere $0 < t \leq T$. This means that $S(\cdot, t), \omega(\cdot, t) \in L^3$, so $\langle S; \omega \otimes \omega \rangle$ and $\int \operatorname{tr}(S^3)$ are both well defined. This also means that $|\omega(\cdot, t)|^2$, $\operatorname{Hess}(p)(\cdot, t) \in L^2$ almost everywhere $0 < t \leq T$. Therefore we can apply Proposition 2.4 and find that $|\omega|^2 I_3$, $\operatorname{Hess}(p) \in (L^2_{st})^{\perp}$, so

$$\left\langle S, \frac{1}{2} |\omega|^2 I_3 \right\rangle = 0, \tag{3.17}$$

$$\langle \operatorname{Hess}(p), S \rangle = 0. \tag{3.18}$$

Now we can use the fact that S is symmetric to compute that

$$\langle S^2, S \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr}(S^3).$$
 (3.19)

We also compute that

$$2\left\langle \nabla_{sym}f,S\right\rangle = 2\left\langle \nabla\otimes f,S\right\rangle \tag{3.20}$$

$$= \langle f, -2\operatorname{div}(S) \rangle \tag{3.21}$$

$$= \langle f, -\Delta u \rangle \,. \tag{3.22}$$

Putting all of these together we find that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - \frac{1}{2} \langle S; \omega \otimes \omega \rangle - 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr}(S^3) + \langle -\Delta u, f \rangle.$$
(3.23)

Note that the vortex stretching term $\langle S; \omega \otimes \omega \rangle$ has the opposite sign as in the well known identity for enstrophy growth (3.14). Taking advantage of this fact, we will add $\frac{1}{3}$ (3.15) to $\frac{2}{3}$ (3.23) to cancel the term $\langle S, \omega \otimes \omega \rangle$, and we find

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - \frac{4}{3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr}(S^3) + \langle -\Delta u, f \rangle \,. \tag{3.24}$$

Finally we will note that because the subcritical quantity $||S(\cdot,t)||_{L^2}$ is controlled uniformly on [0,T], the smoothing due to the heat kernel guarantees that S is smooth when f = 0, so the identity (3.12) can be understood as a derivative of a smooth quantity in the classical sense. When $f \neq 0$, the expression for $\partial_t ||S(\cdot,t)||_{L^2}$ is integrable in time because $S \in L^2([0,T]; \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3))$, and so must be the derivative of the continuous function $||S(\cdot,t)||_{L^2}^2$ almost everywhere in time.

Now that we have improved the estimate for enstrophy growth from one that involved the interaction of the vorticity and the strain tensor to an estimate that only involves the strain tensor. We can still extract more geometric information about the flow, however. The identity for enstrophy growth in Theorem 3.2 can also be expressed in terms of det(S).

Corollary 3.3 (Alternative enstrophy growth identity). Suppose $S \in C([0,T]; L^2_{st}) \cap L^2([0,T]: \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3))$ is a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes strain equation. Then

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - 4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \det(S) + \langle -\Delta u, f \rangle \,, \tag{3.25}$$

almost everywhere $0 < t \leq T$.

Proof. Because S is symmetric it will be diagonalizable with three real eigenvalues, and because S is trace free, we have $tr(S) = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \lambda_3 = 0$. This allows us to relate $tr(S^3)$ to det(S) by

$$tr(S^{3}) = \lambda_{1}^{3} + \lambda_{2}^{3} + \lambda_{3}^{3}$$
(3.26)

$$= \lambda_1^3 + \lambda_2^3 + (-\lambda_1 - \lambda_2)^3 \tag{3.27}$$

$$= -3\lambda_1^2\lambda_2 - 3\lambda_1\lambda_2^2 \tag{3.28}$$

$$=3(-\lambda_1-\lambda_2)\lambda_1\lambda_2\tag{3.29}$$

$$=3\lambda_1\lambda_2\lambda_3\tag{3.30}$$

$$= 3 \det(S). \tag{3.31}$$

So we can write our growth estimate as:

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - 4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \det(S) + \langle -\Delta u, f \rangle \,. \tag{3.32}$$

This completes the proof.

Remark 3.4. As mentioned in the introduction, Dongho Chae proved the analogous result,

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \det(S),$$
(3.33)

in the context of smooth solutions to the Euler equation with no external force [5]. In this paper he shows directly that

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla \otimes u(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = \langle (u \cdot \nabla) \, u, \Delta u \rangle = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr}(S^3) + \frac{1}{4} \langle S; \omega \otimes \omega \rangle \,. \tag{3.34}$$

In the context of the Euler equation, the familiar estimate for enstrophy growth following from the vorticity equation is

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla \otimes u(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = \partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = \langle S; \omega \otimes \omega \rangle.$$
(3.35)

Adding $\frac{4}{3}$ (3.34) and $-\frac{1}{3}$ (3.35), it follows that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 = \partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla \otimes u(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -\frac{4}{3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \operatorname{tr}(S^3) = -4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \det(S).$$
(3.36)

The identity for enstrophy growth in Corollary 3.3 gives us a significantly better understanding of enstrophy production than the classical enstrophy growth identity (3.14), because we now have the growth controlled solely in terms of the strain tensor, rather than both the strain tensor and the vorticity. This estimate also provides analytical confirmation of the well known result that the vorticity tends to align with the eigenvector corresponding to the intermediate eigenvalue of the strain matrix [19,53]. Comparing the identities in (3.12), (3.14), and (3.25) we see that

$$\langle S, \omega \otimes \omega \rangle = -4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \det(S) = -\frac{4}{3} \int \operatorname{tr}(S^3).$$
 (3.37)

When $\det(S)$ tends to be positive, it means there are two negative eigenvalues and one positive eigenvalue, so $\langle S, \omega \otimes \omega \rangle$ being negative means the vorticity tends to align, on average when integrating over the whole space, with the negative eigenspaces. Likewise, when $\det(S)$ tends to be negative, it means there are two positive eigenvalues and one negative eigenvalue, so $\langle S, \omega \otimes \omega \rangle$ being positive means the vorticity tends to align, on average when integrating over the whole space, with the positive eigenspaces. When $\det(S)$ tends to be zero when integrated over the whole space, the vorticity tends clearly to be aligned with the intermediate eigenvalue, as well. Growth in all cases geometrically corresponds to the strain matrix S stretching in two directions, while strongly contracting in the third direction.

Chapter 4

Maximal enstrophy growth

In this chapter, we will consider the maximal rate of enstrophy growth. We will prove an upper bound on the rate of enstrophy growth, which will also allow us to improve the constants in some small initial data results for Navier-Stokes. Throughout this chapter we will consider the Navier-Stokes equation with no external force, setting f = 0. We will begin by bounding $-4 \det(S)$ in terms of $|S|^3$, and see what this matrix looks like in the sharp case of this bound.

Proposition 4.1 (Determinant bound). Let M be a three by three, symmetric, trace free matrix, then

$$-4\det(M) \le \frac{2}{9}\sqrt{6}|M|^3,$$
(4.1)

with equality if and only if $-\frac{1}{2}\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \lambda_3$, where $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \lambda_3$ are the eigenvalues of M.

Proof. In the case where M = 0, it holds trivially. In the case where $M \neq 0$, then we have $\lambda_1 < 0, \lambda_3 > 0$. This allows us to define a parameter $r = -\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_3}$. The two parameters λ_3 and r completely define the system because $\lambda_1 = -r\lambda_3$ and $\lambda_2 = -\lambda_1 - \lambda_3 = (r-1)\lambda_3$. We must now say something about the range of values the parameter r can take on. $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \lambda_3$ implies that $-r \leq r-1 \leq 1$, so therefore $\frac{1}{2} \leq r \leq 2$. Now we can observe that

$$-4\det(M) = -4\lambda_1\lambda_2\lambda_3 = 4r(r-1)\lambda_3^3,$$
(4.2)

and that

$$|M|^{2} = \lambda_{1}^{2} + \lambda_{2}^{2} + \lambda_{3}^{2} = (r^{2} + (r-1)^{2} + 1)\lambda_{3}^{2} = (2r^{2} - 2r + 2)\lambda_{3}^{2}.$$
 (4.3)

We can combine the two equations above to find that

$$-4\det(M) = \sqrt{2} \frac{r^2 - r}{(r^2 - r + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} |M|^3.$$
(4.4)

Next we will observe that

$$\sqrt{2} \frac{r^2 - r}{(r^2 - r + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \Big|_{r=2} = \sqrt{2} \frac{2}{3\sqrt{3}} = \frac{2}{9}\sqrt{6}.$$
(4.5)

This is exactly as we want, as r = 2 is the case that we want to correspond to equality. Finally

we observe that for all $\frac{1}{2} \leq r < 2$, we have that

$$\sqrt{2}\frac{r^2 - r}{(r^2 - r + 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} < \frac{2}{9}\sqrt{6}.$$
(4.6)

This completes the proof.

The structure of the quadratic term in relation to $r = -\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_3} = 2$, the extremal case, will be investigated further in chapter 8 when we consider blow up for a toy model ODE for the Navier-Stokes strain equation. It is an interesting open question whether or not there is a strain matrix which saturates this inequality globally in space. More precisely, does there exist an $S \in L_{st}^2$, not identically zero, such that $\lambda_2(x) = \lambda_3(x)$ almost everywhere $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$?

Corollary 4.2 (Bound on enstrophy growth). Suppose $S \in C([0,T]; L^2_{st}) \cap L^2([0,T]: \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3))$ is a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes strain equation. Then for all $0 < t \leq T$,

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + \frac{2}{9}\sqrt{6} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |S|^3.$$
(4.7)

Proof. This corollary follows immediately from Proposition 4.1 and Corollary 3.3. \Box

Using Corollary 4.2 and the fractional Sobolev inequality we will be able to prove a cubic differential inequality for the growth of enstrophy. The sharp fractional Sobolev inequality was first proven by Lieb [37].

Lemma 4.3 (Fractional Sobolev inequality). Let $C_1 = \frac{1}{2^{\frac{1}{6}\pi^{\frac{1}{3}}}}$. Then for all $f \in \dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$,

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \le C_1 \|f\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}},\tag{4.8}$$

and for all $f \in L^3(\mathbb{R}^3)$

$$\|f\|_{L^3} \le C_1 \|f\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
(4.9)

We will note in particular that the two inequalities in Lemma 4.3 are dual to each other because L^3 and $L^{\frac{3}{2}}$ are dual spaces, and $\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and $\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ are dual spaces, which is why the two inequalities have the same sharp constant. For more references on this inequality see also chapter 4 in [38] and the summary of these results in [15]. We can now prove a cubic differential inequality for the growth of enstrophy.

Proposition 4.4 (Cubic bound on enstrophy growth). Let $u \in C\left([0, T_{max}); \dot{H}_{df}^{1}\right)$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation. Then for all $0 < t < T_{max}$, we have $E'(t) \leq \frac{1}{3,456\pi^{4}\nu^{3}}E(t)^{3}$. Furthermore, if $u \in C\left([0, T_{max}); H_{df}^{1}\right)$, then for all $0 < t < T_{max}$, we have $K'(t) = -2\nu E(t)$.

Proof. The equality $K'(t) = -2\nu E(t)$ is the classic energy equality for smooth solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations first proven by Leray [36]. We will now prove the first inequality. We begin with the estimate for enstrophy growth in Corollary 4.2:

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + \frac{2}{9}\sqrt{6}\|S\|_{L^3}^3.$$
(4.10)

Next we apply the fractional Sobolev inequality in Lemma 4.3 and interpolate between L^2 and \dot{H}^1 and find

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + \frac{2}{9}\sqrt{6}\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}}\|S\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^3 \tag{4.11}$$

$$\leq -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{2}{3^{\frac{3}{2}}\pi} \|S\|_{L^{2}}^{\frac{3}{2}} \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(4.12)

Substituting $r = ||S||_{\dot{H}^1}$, we find

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le \sup_{r\ge 0} -2\nu r^2 + \frac{2}{3^{\frac{3}{2}}\pi} \|S\|_{L^2}^{\frac{3}{2}} r^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(4.13)

Let $B = \frac{1}{3^{\frac{3}{2}}\pi} \|S\|_{L^2}^{\frac{3}{2}}$, and let

$$f(r) = -2\nu r^2 + 2Br^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(4.14)

Computing the derivative we find that

$$f'(r) = -4\nu r + 3Br^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(4.15)

This means f has a global maximum at $r_0 = \left(\frac{3B}{4\nu}\right)^2$. Plugging in we find that

$$f(r_0) = -2\nu \left(\frac{3B}{4\nu}\right)^4 + 2B \left(\frac{3B}{4\nu}\right)^3 = \frac{3^3 B^4}{2^7 \nu^3}.$$
(4.16)

Recalling that $B = \frac{1}{3^{\frac{3}{2}}\pi} \|S\|_{L^2}^{\frac{3}{2}}$ and that f attains its global maximum at r_0 , we conclude that

$$\sup_{r \ge 0} -2\nu r^2 + \frac{2}{3^{\frac{3}{2}}\pi} \|S\|_{L^2}^{\frac{3}{2}} r^{\frac{3}{2}} = f(r_0) = \frac{1}{3,456\pi^4\nu^3} \|S\|_{L^2}^6.$$
(4.17)

Therefore

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le \frac{1}{3,456\pi^4 \nu^3} \|S\|_{L^2}^6.$$
(4.18)

This completes the proof.

The cubic bound on the growth of enstrophy is not new, however a closer analysis of the strain allows a major improvement in the constant. The best known estimate [2, 39, 45] for enstrophy growth that does not make use of the identity for enstrophy growth in terms of the determinant of strain in Proposition 3.12 is

$$E'(t) \le \frac{27}{8\pi^4 \nu^3} E(t)^3. \tag{4.19}$$

The author then improved the constant in this inequality significantly; using Proposition 3.12, the author proved in [41] a cubic differential inequality controlling the growth of enstrophy,

$$E'(t) \le \frac{1}{1,458\pi^4\nu^3} E(t)^3,\tag{4.20}$$

in the case where $\nu = 1$, although there is no loss of generality in the proof: the proof in the

case of $\nu > 0$ is entirely analogous. The proof in [41] relied on the sharp Sobolev inequality proven by Talenti [50], which we will state below.

Lemma 4.5 (Sobolev inequality). Let $C_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \left(\frac{2}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}}$. Then for all $f \in L^6(\mathbb{R}^3)$

$$\|f\|_{L^6} \le C_2 \|\nabla f\|_{L^2} = C_2 \|f\|_{\dot{H}^1}, \tag{4.21}$$

and for all $f \in L^{\frac{6}{5}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$

$$\|f\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \le C_2 \|f\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}.$$
(4.22)

As in the fractional Sobolev inequality, we will note in particular that the two inequalities in Lemma 4.5 are dual to each other because L^6 and $L^{\frac{6}{5}}$ are dual spaces, and \dot{H}^1 and \dot{H}^{-1} are dual spaces, which is why the constant in both inequalities is the same.

In [41], the author first interpolated between L^2 and L^6 and then applied Lemma 4.5, showing

$$\|S\|_{L^3}^3 \le \|S\|_{L^2}^{\frac{3}{2}} \|S\|_{L^6}^{\frac{3}{2}} \le C_2^{\frac{3}{2}} \|S\|_{L^2}^{\frac{3}{2}} \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(4.23)

It is possible to obtain a sharper constant by first applying the fractional Sobolev inequality and then interpolating between L^2 and \dot{H}^1 . Proceeding this way, we conclude

$$\|S\|_{L^3}^3 \le C_1^3 \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^3 \le C_1^3 \|S\|_{L^2}^{\frac{3}{2}} \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(4.24)

Because $C_1^3 < C_2^{\frac{3}{2}}$, using the fractional Sobolev inequality results in a sharper bound on enstrophy growth.

Using the bounds in Proposition 4.4, we will be able to prove a small data global existence result in terms of the product of energy and enstrophy.

Proposition 4.6 (Small data in terms of energy and enstrophy). Suppose $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$. If $K_0E_0 < 6,912\pi^4\nu^4$, or equivalently, if $||u^0||^2_{L^2}||\omega^0||^2_{L^2} < 27,648\pi^4\nu^4$, then $T_{max} = +\infty$. That is, there exists a unique, smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left([0,+\infty); H^1_{df}\right)$ with $u(\cdot,0) = u^0$. Furthermore, for all t > 0,

$$E(t) \le \frac{E_0}{1 - \frac{1}{6.912\pi^4 \nu^4} E_0 K_0}.$$
(4.25)

Proof. Let f(t) = K(t)E(t). Then we can use the product rule and Proposition 4.4 to compute that

$$f'(t) \le -2\nu E(t)^2 + K(t) \frac{E(t)^3}{3,456\pi^4\nu^3}$$
(4.26)

$$\leq -2\nu E(t)^2 \left(1 - \frac{f(t)}{6,912\pi^4\nu^4}\right). \tag{4.27}$$

Therefore, if $f(t) < 6,912\pi^4\nu^4$, then f'(t) < 0. This implies that if $f(0) < 6,912\pi^4\nu^4$, then for all $0 < t < T_{max}$, we have $f(t) < 2,916\pi^4\nu^4$. Interpolating between L^2 and \dot{H}^1 , we can see that

$$\|u\|_{L^3}^4 \le C_1^4 \|u(\cdot,t)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^4 \le C_1^4 \|u(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 \|u(\cdot,t)\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 = 4C_1^4 K(t)E(t) = 4C_1^4 f(t).$$
(4.28)

Šverák, Seregin, and Escauriaza showed in [16] that if $T_{max} < +\infty$, then

$$\lim_{t \to T_{max}} \sup \| u(\cdot, t) \|_{L^3} = +\infty.$$
(4.29)

Therefore, $f(0) < 6,912\pi^4\nu^4$ implies that $T_{max} = +\infty$.

Now we will consider the bound on enstrophy globally in time. We know that

$$E'(t) \le \frac{1}{3,456\pi^4\nu^4} E(t)^3 = \frac{1}{3,456\pi^4\nu^4} E(t)E(t)^2$$
(4.30)

Fix t > 0. Integrating this differential inequality and making use of the energy inequality, we find

$$\frac{1}{E_0} - \frac{1}{E(t)} \le \frac{1}{3,456\pi^4\nu^4} \int_0^t E(\tau)d\tau, \tag{4.31}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{6,912\pi^4\nu^4} K_0. \tag{4.32}$$

Rearranging terms we find that

$$E(t) \le \frac{E_0}{1 - \frac{1}{6,912\pi^4\nu^4} E_0 K_0}.$$
(4.33)

We took t > 0 arbitrary, so this completes the proof.

Similar estimates were considered by Protas and Ayala in [2]. In particular, they proved that if $E_0K_0 < \frac{16\pi^4\nu^4}{27}$, then there must be a smooth solution globally in time, and enstrophy is bounded uniformly in time, with $E(t) < \frac{E_0}{1-\frac{27}{10\pi^4}L^4}E_0K_0}$, for all t > 0. By improving the constant for enstrophy growth instantaneously in time, we significantly expand the set of initial data for which we are guaranteed to have global smooth solutions. The initial data must be in H^1 for the product of initial energy and initial enstrophy to be bounded, so the condition in Proposition 4.6 is more restrictive than the condition in the small initial data results for $\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}$ [18], L^3 [26], or BMO^{-1} [28]. However, the product of energy and enstrophy is the most physically relevant of the scale invariant quantities, and so we are able to sharpen the bound on the size initial data for which solutions are guaranteed to be smooth globally in time more effectively in this case by taking advantage of the structure of the nonlinear term. The proofs of the bounds for small initial data in $\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}$, L^3 , and BMO^{-1} would all work just as well for the Navier-Stokes model equation introduced by Tao [51], as would the estimates used by Protas and Ayala. The estimates used to prove Proposition 4.6, on the other hand, take advantage of the structure of the evolution equations for vorticity and strain, and the constraint spaces, and so would not hold with the same constants in Tao's model equation.

We will now prove an immediate corollary of Proposition 4.6, that any solution that blows up in finite time must be bounded away from zero that will be useful later on.

Corollary 4.7. Suppose $u \in C([0, T_{max}); H^1_{df})$ is a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation and $T_{max} < +\infty$, then for all $0 \le t < T_{max}$,

$$K(t)E(t) \ge 6,912\pi^4\nu^4. \tag{4.34}$$

Proof. We will prove the contrapositive. Suppose that there exists $0 \leq t < T_{max}$ such that $K(t)E(t) < 6,912\pi^4\nu^4$. Then by Proposition 4.6, $u(\cdot,t)$ generates a global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equations. Smooth solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations are unique, so if $u(\cdot,t)$ generates a global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equations, then so does u^0 , and so we conclude that $T_{max} = +\infty$.

Using Proposition 4.4, we can also prove an upper bound on blowup time, assuming there is finite time blowup, in terms of the initial energy, and a lower bound on blowup time in terms of the initial enstrophy. We will prove these results below.

Proposition 4.8 (Upper bound on T_{max}). For all initial data $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$, either $T_{max} \leq \frac{K_0^2}{13,824\pi^4\nu^5}$ or $T_{max} = +\infty$.

Proof. Suppose toward contradiction that $\frac{K_0^2}{13,824\pi^4\nu^5} < T_{max} < +\infty$. We know from the energy equality that

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} E(\tau) d\tau \le \frac{1}{2\nu} K_0.$$
(4.35)

This implies that there exists $t \in (0, T_{max})$ such that $T_{max}E(t) \leq \frac{1}{2\nu}K_0$. We also know from the energy equality that $K(t) < K_0$. Combining these two inequalities as well as our hypothesis on T_{max} , we find that

$$E(t)K(t) < \frac{K_0^2}{2\nu T_{max}} < 6,912\pi^4\nu^4.$$
(4.36)

Using Proposition 4.6, this implies that if we take $u(\cdot, t)$ to be initial data, it generates a global smooth solution, which contradicts the assumption that $T_{max} < +\infty$. The uniqueness of strong solutions means that if $u(\cdot, t)$ generates a global smooth solution for some $0 < t < T_{max}$, then so does u^0 . This contradicts the assumption that $T_{max} < +\infty$, and completes the proof. \Box

Proposition 4.9 (Lower bound on T_{max}). For all initial data $u^0 \in \dot{H}^1_{df}$, and for all $0 < t < \frac{1,728\pi^4\nu^3}{E_0^2}$,

$$E(t) \le \frac{E_0}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{E_0^2}{1,728\pi^4\nu^3}t}}.$$
(4.37)

In particular, for all $u^0 \in \dot{H}^1_{df}$, $T_{max} \ge \frac{1,728\pi^4\nu^3}{E_0^2}$

Proof. Integrating the differential inequality

$$\partial_t E(t) \le \frac{1}{3,456\pi^4 \nu^3} E(t)^3,$$
(4.38)

we find that for all $0 < t < \frac{1.728 \pi^4 \nu^3}{E_0^2}$

$$\frac{1}{E_0^2} - \frac{1}{E(t)^2} \le \frac{1}{1,728\pi^4\nu^3}t.$$
(4.39)

Rearranging terms we find that for all $0 < t < \frac{1,728 \pi^4 \nu^3}{E_0^2},$

$$E(t) \le \frac{E_0}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{E_0^2}{1,728\pi^4\nu^3}t}}.$$
(4.40)

The mild solution can be continued further in time as long as enstrophy is bounded, so this completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

Chapter 5

Regularity criteria

In this chapter we will prove Theorem 1.7, as well as some immediate corollaries that were also stated in the introduction. Before we can prove these regularity criteria, we will need to prove a lemma bounding the growth of enstrophy in terms of λ_2^+ .

Lemma 5.1 (Middle eigenvalue determinant bound). Suppose $S \in C([0,T]; L^2_{st}) \cap L^2([0,T]: \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3))$ is a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes strain equation with external force $f \in L^2_{loc}([0,T]; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$, and S(x) has eigenvalues $\lambda_1(x) \leq \lambda_2(x) \leq \lambda_3(x)$. Define

$$\lambda_2^+(x) = \max\{\lambda_2(x), 0\}.$$
 (5.1)

Then

$$-\det(S) \le \frac{1}{2}|S|^2\lambda_2^+.$$
 (5.2)

and for all $0 < t \leq T$,

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + 2\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \lambda_2^+ |S|^2 + \frac{2}{\nu} \|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.3)

Proof. We will begin by noting that $\lambda_1 \leq 0$ and $\lambda_3 \geq 0$, so clearly, $-\lambda_1 \lambda_3 \geq 0$. This implies that

$$-\det(S) = (-\lambda_1\lambda_3)\lambda_2 \le (-\lambda_1\lambda_3)\lambda_2^+.$$
(5.4)

Next we can apply Young's Inequality to show that

$$-\lambda_1 \lambda_3 \le \frac{1}{2} (\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_3^2) \le \frac{1}{2} (\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 + \lambda_3^2) = \frac{1}{2} |S|^2.$$
(5.5)

We can combine these inequalities and conclude that

$$-\det(S) \le \frac{1}{2}|S|^2\lambda_2^+.$$
 (5.6)

Next apply Hölder's inequality, Proposition 3.1, and Young's inequality to find

$$\langle -\Delta u, f \rangle \le \| -\Delta u \|_{L^2} \| f \|_{L^2}$$
 (5.7)

$$=\sqrt{2}\|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}\|f\|_{L^{2}} \tag{5.8}$$

$$\leq \nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + \frac{2}{\nu} \|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.9)

Recall from Corollary 3.3, that

$$\partial_t \|S\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - 4\int \det(S) + \langle -\Delta u, f \rangle, \qquad (5.10)$$

and this completes the proof.

With this bound, we are now ready to prove the main result of this chapter. This is Theorem 1.7 from the introduction, which is restated here for the reader's convenience.

Theorem 5.2 (Middle eigenvalue of strain characterizes the blow-up time). Let $u \in C\left([0,T]; \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)\right) \cap L^2\left([0,T]; \dot{H}^2(\mathbb{R}^3)\right)$, for all $T < T_{max}$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with force $f \in L^2_{loc}\left((0,T^*); L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)\right)$. If $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, with $\frac{3}{2} < q \leq +\infty$, then

$$\|u(\cdot,T)\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \leq \left(\|u^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{4}{\nu} \int_{0}^{T} \|f(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right) \exp\left(C_{q} \int_{0}^{T} \|\lambda_{2}^{+}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt\right),$$
(5.11)

with the constant C_q depending only on q and ν . In particular if the maximal existence time for a mild solution $T_{max} < T^*$, then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|\lambda_{2}^{+}(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt = +\infty.$$
(5.12)

Proof. First we will note that $||u(\cdot,t)||_{\dot{H}^1}^2$ must become unbounded as $t \to T_{max}$ if the mild solution cannot be extended beyond some time $T_{max} < T^*$, so it suffices to prove the bound (5.11). Applying Proposition 3.1, it is equivalent to show that

$$\|S(\cdot,T)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \left(\|S^{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \frac{2}{\nu}\int_{0}^{T}\|f(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}dt\right)\exp\left(C_{q}\int_{0}^{T}\|\lambda_{2}^{+}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p}dt\right).$$
(5.13)

To begin we recall the conclusion in Lemma 5.1 (5.3)

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + 2\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \lambda_2^+ |S|^2 + \frac{2}{\nu} \|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.14)

First we will consider the case $q = +\infty$. Applying Hölder's inequality with exponents 1 and $+\infty$ we see that,

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le 2\|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^\infty} \|S\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{2}{\nu} \|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.15)

Now we can apply Gronwall's inequality and find that

$$\|S(\cdot,T)\|_{L^2}^2 \le \left(\|S^0\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{2}{\nu}\int_0^T \|f(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 dt\right) \exp\left(2\int_0^T \|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^\infty} dt\right).$$
(5.16)

Now we will consider the case $\frac{3}{2} < q < +\infty$. We will begin by applying Hölder's inequality to (5.3), so take $\frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{a} = 1$, and so

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + 2\|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^q}\|S\|_{L^{2a}}^2 + \frac{2}{\nu}\|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.17)

Applying the Sobolev inequality we find

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -C_2 \nu \|S\|_{L^6}^2 + 2\|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^q} \|S\|_{L^{2a}}^2 + \frac{2}{\nu} \|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.18)

Noting that $q > \frac{3}{2}$, it follows that a < 3, so 2a < 6. Take $\sigma \in (0, 1)$, such that $\frac{1}{2a} = \sigma \frac{1}{2} + (1 - \sigma) \frac{1}{6}$. Then interpolating between L^2 and L^6 we find that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -C_2 \nu \|S\|_{L^6}^2 + 2\|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^q} \|S\|_{L^2}^{2\sigma} \|S\|_{L^6}^{2(1-\sigma)} + \frac{2}{\nu} \|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.19)

We know that $\frac{\sigma}{3} + \frac{1}{6} = \frac{1}{2a}$, so $\sigma = \frac{3}{2a} - \frac{1}{2}$. By definition we have that $\frac{1}{a} = 1 - \frac{1}{q}$, so $\sigma = 1 - \frac{3}{2q}$. Therefore we conclude that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -C_2 \nu \|S\|_{L^6}^2 + 2\|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^q} \|S\|_{L^2}^{2-\frac{3}{q}} \|S\|_{L^6}^{\frac{3}{q}} + \frac{2}{\nu} \|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.20)

Now take $b = \frac{2q}{3}$. That means $1 < b < +\infty$. Define p by $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{b} = 1$, and apply Young's inequality with exponents p and b, and we find that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -C_2 \nu \|S\|_{L^6}^2 + C_q \left(\|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^q} \|S\|_{L^2}^{2-\frac{3}{q}} \right)^p + C_2 \nu \|S\|_{L^6}^{b\frac{3}{q}} + \frac{2}{\nu} \|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.21)

Note that $\frac{1}{p} = 1 - \frac{1}{b} = 1 - \frac{3}{2q}$. This means that $p(2 - \frac{3}{q}) = 2$ and that $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, and we know by definition that $b_q^3 = 2$, so

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le C_q \|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^q}^p \|S\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{2}{\nu} \|f\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(5.22)

Applying Gronwall's inequality we find that

$$\|S(\cdot,T)\|_{L^2}^2 \le \left(\|S^0\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{2}{\nu}\int_0^T \|f\|_{L^2}^2 dt\right) \exp\left(C_q \int_0^T \|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^3)}^p dt\right).$$
 (5.23)

This completes the proof.

We will note here that the case $p = 1, q = +\infty$ corresponds to the Beale-Kato-Majda criterion, so it may be possible to show that in this case the regularity criterion holds for the Euler equations as well as the Navier-Stokes equations. Note in particular that we did not use the dissipation to control the enstrophy, so there is a natural path to extend the result to solutions of the Euler equation as well. There is more work to do however, as bounded enstrophy is not sufficient to guarantee regularity for solutions to the Euler equations.

There is also an open question at the other boundary case, $p = +\infty q = \frac{3}{2}$. This would likely be quite difficult as the methods used in [16,22] to extend the Prodi-Serrin-Ladyzhenskaya regularity criterion to the boundary case $p = +\infty$, q = 3 were much more technical than the
methods in [33, 44, 48]. In particular, when $p = +\infty$ it is no longer adequate to rely on the relevant Sobolev embeddings, because we cannot apply Gronwall's inequality. Nonetheless, it is natural to suspect based on Theorem 5.2 that if u is a smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with a maximal time of existence, $T_{max} < +\infty$, then

$$\lim_{t \to T_{max}} \sup \|\lambda_2^+(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} = +\infty.$$
(5.24)

While we cannot prove this result, we can prove the following weaker statement.

Theorem 5.3 (Regularity criterion in the borderline case). Let $u \in C([0,T]; \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)) \cap L^2([0,T]; \dot{H}^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$, for all $T < T_{max}$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with force $f \in L^2_{loc}((0,T^*); L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$. If $T_{max} < T^*$, then

$$\limsup_{t \to T_{max}} \|\lambda_2^+(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \ge \frac{\nu}{C_2^2},\tag{5.25}$$

where C_2 is the constant in the sharp Sobolev inequality, Lemma 4.5.

Proof. Suppose toward contradiction that $T_{max} < T^*$ and

$$\lim_{t \to T_{max}} \sup \|\lambda_2^+(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} < \frac{\nu}{C_2^2}.$$
(5.26)

Then there must exist $\epsilon, \delta > 0$, such that for all $T_{max} - \delta < t < T_{max}$,

$$C_2^2 \|\lambda_2^+(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} < \nu - \epsilon.$$
(5.27)

Recall from the proof of Lemma 5.1 that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + 2\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \lambda_2^+ |S|^2 + \sqrt{2} \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|f\|_{L^2}$$
(5.28)

$$\leq -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + 2\|\lambda_{2}^{+}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}\|S\|_{L^{6}}^{2} + \sqrt{2}\|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}\|f\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$(5.29)$$

$$\leq -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + 2C_{2}^{2} \|\lambda_{2}^{+}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \sqrt{2} \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \|f\|_{L^{2}},$$
(5.30)

where we have applied Hölder's inequality and the sharp Sobolev inequality.

Next we recall that by hypothesis, for all $T_{max} - \delta < t < T_{max}$,

$$C_2^2 \|\lambda_2^+\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} - \nu < -\epsilon.$$
(5.31)

Using this fact and applying Young's inequality, we find

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -2\epsilon \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + \sqrt{2} \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|f\|_{L^2}$$
(5.32)

$$\leq \frac{1}{\epsilon} \|f\|_{L^2}^2. \tag{5.33}$$

Integrating this differential inequality we find that

$$\limsup_{t \to T_{max}} \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le \|S(\cdot, T_{max} - \delta)\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{T_{max} - \delta}^{T_{max}} \|f(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 dt < +\infty,$$
(5.34)

which is a contradiction because $T_{max} < T^*$ implies that

$$\lim_{t \to T_{max}} \sup \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = +\infty.$$
(5.35)

This completes the proof.

Note that the boundary case in our paper is $q = \frac{3}{2}$, not q = 3. This is because the regularity criterion in [16, 22] is on u, whereas our regularity criterion is on an eigenvalue of the strain matrix, which scales like $\nabla \otimes u$. This is directly related to the Sobolev embedding $W^{1,\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^3) \subset L^3(\mathbb{R}^3)$.

Theorem 5.2 is one of few regularity criteria for the Navier-Stokes equations involving a signed quantity, which is not too surprising, given that the Navier-Stokes equation is a vector valued equation. Even the scalar regularity criteria based on only one component of u do not involve signed quantities [7]. The only other regularity criterion for the Navier-Stokes equation involving a signed quantity—at least to the knowledge of the author—is the regularity criterion proved by Seregin and Šverák [46] that for a smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation to blowup in finite time, p must become unbounded below and $p + \frac{1}{2}|u|^2$ must become unbounded above.

We will also make a remark about the relationship between this result and the regularity criterion on one component of the gradient tensor $\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i}$ in [4]. A natural question to ask in light of this regularity criterion is whether it is possible to prove a regularity criterion on just one entry of the strain tensor S_{ij} . This paper does not answer this question, however we do prove a regularity criterion on just one diagonal entry of the diagonalization of the strain tensor.

Corollary 5.4 (Any eigenvalue of strain characterizes the blow-up time). Let $u \in C([0,T]; \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)) \cap L^2([0,T]; \dot{H}^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$, for all $T < T_{max}$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with force $f \in L^2_{loc}((0,T^*); L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$. If $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, with $\frac{3}{2} < q \leq +\infty$, then

$$\|u(\cdot,T)\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \leq \left(\|u^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{4}{\nu} \int_{0}^{T} \|f(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} dt\right) \exp\left(C_{q} \int_{0}^{T} \|\lambda_{i}(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt\right),$$
(5.36)

with the constant C_q depending only on q and ν . In particular if $T_{max} < T^*$, then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|\lambda_{i}(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt = +\infty.$$
(5.37)

Proof. $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \lambda_3$ and $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \lambda_3 = 0$ implies that $|\lambda_1|, |\lambda_3| \geq |\lambda_2| \geq |\lambda_2^+|$. Therefore

$$\int_{0}^{T} \|\lambda_{2}^{+}(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{q}}^{p} dt \leq \int_{0}^{T} \|\lambda_{i}(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{q}}^{p} dt.$$
(5.38)

Applying this inequality to both conclusions in Theorem 5.2, this completes the proof. \Box

We will also note that there is a gap to be closed in the regularity criterion on $\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i}$, because it is not the optimal result with respect to scaling and requires subcritical control on $\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i}$. That is, the result only holds for $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = \frac{q+3}{2q} < 2$, for $i \neq j$ and $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = \frac{3q+6}{4q} < 2$, for i = j, whereas the regularity criterion on one of the eigenvalues in Corollary 5.4 is critical with respect to the

scaling. It is natural, however, to ask whether Theorem 5.2 can be extended to the critical Besov spaces, so in that sense the result may be pushed further.

Corollary 5.4 is only really a new result, however, for λ_2 . This is because $|\lambda_1|$ and $|\lambda_3|$ both control |S|. As we will see from the following proposition, the regularity criteria in terms of λ_1 or λ_3 follow immediately from the Prodi-Serrin-Ladyzhenskaya regularity criterion without needing to use strain evolution equation at all, so in this case Corollary 5.3 is just an unstated corollary of previous results.

Proposition 5.5 (Lower bounds on the magnitude of the external eigenvalues). Suppose $M \in S^{3\times 3}$ is a symmetric trace free matrix with eigenvalues $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \lambda_3$. Then

$$\lambda_3 \ge \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}|S|,\tag{5.39}$$

with equality if and only if $-\frac{1}{2}\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \lambda_3$, and

$$\lambda_1 \le -\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}|S|,\tag{5.40}$$

with equality if and only if $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = -\frac{1}{2}\lambda_3$.

Furthermore, for all $S \in L^2_{st}$ and for all $1 \le q \le +\infty$

$$\|S\|_{L^q} \le \sqrt{6} \|\lambda_1\|_{L^q} \tag{5.41}$$

and

$$\|S\|_{L^q} \le \sqrt{6} \|\lambda_3\|_{L^q}. \tag{5.42}$$

Proof. We will prove the statement for λ_3 . The proof of the statement for λ_1 is entirely analogous and is left to the reader. First observe that if $-\frac{1}{2}\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \lambda_3$, then

$$|S|^2 = \lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 + \lambda_3^2 = 6\lambda_3^2, \tag{5.43}$$

So we have proven that if $\lambda_2 = \lambda_3$, then $\lambda_3 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}|S|$. Now suppose $\lambda_2 < \lambda_3$. Recall that

$$\operatorname{tr}(M) = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \lambda_3 = 0, \qquad (5.44)$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\lambda_1 = -\lambda_2 - \lambda_3. \tag{5.45}$$

Therefore we find that

$$|S|^{2} = (-\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{3})^{2} + \lambda_{2}^{2} + \lambda_{3}^{2} = 2\lambda_{2}^{2} + 2\lambda_{3}^{2} + 3\lambda_{2}\lambda_{3}.$$
 (5.46)

Applying Young's Inequality we can bound

$$2\lambda_2\lambda_3 \le \lambda_2^2 + \lambda_3^2, \tag{5.47}$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$|S|^2 \le 3\lambda_2^2 + 3\lambda_3^2 < 6\lambda_3^2. \tag{5.48}$$

 $\lambda_3 \geq 0$, so this completes the proof. We leave the analogous proof for λ_1 to the reader. The L^q bounds follow immediately from integrating these bounds pointwise when one recalls that $\operatorname{tr}(S) = 0$. We will note here that the L^q norms may be infinite, as by hypothesis we only have $S \in L^2$, but by convention the inequality is satisfied if both norms are infinite.

In particular this implies that regularity criteria involving λ_1 or λ_3 follow immediately from regularity criteria involving S, so while the regularity criteria on λ_1 and λ_3 in Corollary 5.4 do not appear in the literature to the knowledge of the author, these criteria do not offer a real advance over the Prodi-Serrin-Ladyzhenskaya criterion [33, 44, 48], as the critical norm on u can be controlled by the critical norm on S using Sobolev embedding, which can in turn be bounded by the critical norm on λ_1 or λ_3 using Proposition 5. That is

$$\|u\|_{L^{q^*}} \le C \|S\|_{L^q} \le \sqrt{6C} \|\lambda_3\|_{L^q}.$$
(5.49)

It is the regularity criterion in terms of λ_2^+ that is really significant, because it encodes geometric information about the strain beyond just its size.

We will also note that none of the regularity criteria involving ∇u_j [54], $\partial_{x_i} u$ [32], or $\partial_{x_i} u_j$ [4], have been proven for the Navier-Stokes equation with an external force. However, the regularity criterion in Theorem 5.2 is also valid for Navier-Stokes equation with an external force. It may only be an exercise to extend the results cited above to the case with an external force, but because these papaers do not establish their regularity criteria by applying Grönwall type estimates to the enstrophy, it is not immediately clear that this is the case.

Lemma 5.6 (The middle eigenvector is minimal). Suppose $S \in L^2_{st}$ and $v \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ with |v(x)| = 1 almost everywhere $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$. Then

$$|\lambda_2(x)| \le |S(x)v(x)| \tag{5.50}$$

almost everywhere $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$.

Proof. By the spectral theorem, we know that there is an orthonormal eigenbasis for \mathbb{R}^n . In particular, take $v_1(x), v_2(x), v_3(x)$ to be eigenvectors of S(x) corresponding to eigenvalues $\lambda_1(x), \lambda_2(x), \lambda_3(x)$ such that $|v_1(x)|, |v_2(x)|, |v_3(x)| = 1$ almost everywhere $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$. Then from the spectral theorem we know that $\{v_1(x), v_2(x), v_3(x)\}$ is an orthonormal basis for \mathbb{R}^3 almost everywhere $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$. Therefore

$$Sv = \lambda_1 (v \cdot v_1) v_1 + \lambda_2 (v \cdot v_2) v_2 + \lambda_3 (v \cdot v_3) v_3.$$
(5.51)

 $\operatorname{tr}(S) = 0$ implies that $|\lambda_2| \leq |\lambda_1|, |\lambda_3|$, so we can see that

$$|Sv|^{2} = \lambda_{1}^{2}(v \cdot v_{1})^{2} + \lambda_{2}^{2}(v \cdot v_{2})^{2} + \lambda_{3}^{2}(v \cdot v_{3})^{2}$$
(5.52)

$$\geq \lambda_2^2 \left((v \cdot v_1)^2 + (v \cdot v_2)^2 + (v \cdot v_3)^2 \right).$$
(5.53)

Because $\{v_1(x), v_2(x), v_3(x)\}$ is an orthonormal basis for \mathbb{R}^3 almost everywhere $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$, we conclude that

$$(v \cdot v_1)^2 + (v \cdot v_2)^2 + (v \cdot v_3)^2 = |v|^2 = 1.$$
(5.54)

Therefore

$$|Sv|^2 \ge \lambda_2^2. \tag{5.55}$$

This concludes the proof.

Now that we have proven Lemma 5.6, we will prove a new regularity criterion for the strain tensor. This regularity criterion is Theorem 1.9 in the introduction, and is restated here for the reader's convenience.

Theorem 5.7 (Blowup requires the strain to blow up in every direction). Let $u \in C([0,T]; \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)) \cap L^2([0,T]; \dot{H}^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$, for all $T < T_{max}$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with force $f \in L^2_{loc}((0,T^*); L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$, and let $v \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3 \times [0,T_{max}]; \mathbb{R}^3)$, with |v(x,t)| = 1 almost everywhere. If $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, with $\frac{3}{2} < q \le +\infty$, then

$$\|u(\cdot,T)\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \leq \left(\|u^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{4}{\nu} \int_{0}^{T} \|f(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right) \exp\left(C_{q} \int_{0}^{T} \|S(\cdot,t)v(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt\right), \quad (5.56)$$

with the constant C_q depending only on q and ν . In particular if the maximal existence time for a mild solution $T_{max} < T^*$, then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|S(\cdot, t)v(\cdot, t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt = +\infty.$$
(5.57)

Proof. This follows immediately from Lemma 5.6 and Theorem 5.2.

We can use Theorem 5.7 to prove a new one-direction-type regularity criterion involving the sum of the derivative of the whole velocity in one direction, and the gradient of the component in the same direction. In fact, Theorem 5.7 allows us to prove a one direction regularity criterion that involves different directions in different regions of \mathbb{R}^3 . First off, for any unit vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^3$, |v| = 1 we define $\partial_v = v \cdot \nabla$ and $u_v = u \cdot v$. We will now prove Theorem 1.8, which is restated here for the reader's convenience.

Corollary 5.8 (Local one direction regularity criterion). Let $\{v_n(t)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ with $|v_n(t)| = 1$. Let $\{\Omega_n(t)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ be Lebesgue measurable sets such that for all $m \neq n$, $\Omega_m(t) \cap \Omega_n(t) = \emptyset$, and $\mathbb{R}^3 = \bigcup_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \Omega_n(t)$. Let $u \in C\left([0,T]; \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)\right) \cap L^2\left([0,T]; \dot{H}^2(\mathbb{R}^3)\right)$, for all $T < T_{max}$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with force $f \in L^2_{loc}\left((0,T^*); L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)\right)$. If $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, with $\frac{3}{2} < q \leq +\infty$, then

$$\|u(\cdot,T)\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \leq \left(\|u^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{4}{\nu} \int_{0}^{T} \|f(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right) \exp\left(C_{q} \int_{0}^{T} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\|\partial_{v_{n}}u(\cdot,t) + \nabla u_{v_{n}}(\cdot,t)\right\|_{L^{q}(\Omega_{n}(t))}^{q}\right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dt\right)$$

$$(5.58)$$

with the constant C_q depending only on q and ν . If the maximal existence time for a mild solution $T_{max} < T^*$, then

$$\int_0^{T_{max}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^\infty \left\| \partial_{v_n} u(\cdot, t) + \nabla u_{v_n}(\cdot, t) \right\|_{L^q(\Omega_n(t))}^q \right)^{\frac{p}{q}} dt = +\infty.$$
(5.59)

In particular if we take
$$v_n(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\0\\1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, then (5.59) reduces to
$$\int_0^{T_{max}} \|\partial_3 u(\cdot, t) + \nabla u_3(\cdot, t)\|_{L^q}^p dt = +\infty.$$
(5.60)

Proof. Let $v(x,t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} v_n(t) I_{\Omega_n(t)}(x)$, where I_{Ω} is the indicator function $I_{\Omega}(x) = 1$ for all $x \in \Omega$ and $I_{\Omega}(x) = 0$ otherwise. Note that in this case we clearly have

$$S(x,t)v(x,t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_{\Omega_n(t)}(x)S(x,t)v_n(t).$$
 (5.61)

Because $\{\Omega_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ are disjoint, we have

$$\|S(\cdot,t)v(\cdot,t)\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^3)}^q = \sum_{n=1}^\infty \|S(\cdot,t)v_n(t)\|_{L^q(\Omega_n(t))}^q.$$
(5.62)

Therefore we find that

$$\|S(\cdot,t)v(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} = \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|S(\cdot,t)v_{n}(t)\|_{L^{q}(\Omega_{n}(t))}^{q}\right)^{\frac{p}{q}}.$$
(5.63)

Finally observe that

$$S(x,t)v_n(t) = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{v_n}u(x,t) + \frac{1}{2}\nabla u_{v_n}(x,t),$$
(5.64)

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\|S(\cdot,t)v(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} = \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\|\frac{1}{2}\partial_{v_{n}}u(\cdot,t) + \frac{1}{2}\nabla u_{v_{n}}(\cdot,t)\right\|_{L^{q}(\Omega_{n}(t))}^{q}\right)^{\frac{p}{q}}.$$
 (5.65)

Applying Theorem 5.7, this completes the proof.

There are previous regularity criteria involving only one direction. For instance, Kukavica and Ziane [32] showed that if $T_{max} < +\infty$, and if $\frac{2}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = 2$, with $\frac{9}{4} \le q \le 3$, then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|\partial_{3}u(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{p} dt = +\infty.$$
(5.66)

More recently, it was shown by Chemin, Zhang, and Zhang [11,12] that if $T_{max} < +\infty$ and 4 , then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|u_{3}(\cdot,t)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}+\frac{2}{p}}}^{p} = +\infty.$$
(5.67)

Corollary 5.8 extends regularity criteria involving one fixed direction to regularity criteria in which the direction may vary in time and space. In the case where there is no external force, f = 0, these results both imply the special case of Corollary 5.8, that if $T_{max} < +\infty$ then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{max}} \|\partial_3 u(\cdot, t) + \nabla u_3(\cdot, t)\|_{L^q}^p = +\infty,$$
(5.68)

in the range of exponents $\frac{9}{4} \leq q \leq 3$ and $\frac{3}{2} < q < 6$ respectively. This follows from the Helmholtz decomposition in Proposition 1.3, as we will now show.

Observe that the projections associated with the Helmholtz decomposition allow us to control $\|\partial_3 u\|_{L^q}$ and $\|u_3\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}+\frac{p}{2}}}$ by $\|\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3\|_{L^q}$. In particular, we find

$$\|\partial_3 u\|_{L^q} = \|P_{df} (\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3)\|_{L^q} \le B_q \|\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3\|_{L^q}.$$
(5.69)

Applying the the Sobolev embedding $\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}+\frac{p}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^3) \subset W^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ when $\frac{2}{p}+\frac{3}{q}=2$, and the L^q boundedness of P_q , we can also see that

$$\|u_3\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}+\frac{2}{p}}} \le D\|\nabla u_3\|_{L^q} = D\|P_g\left(\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3\right)\|_{L^q} \le DB_q\|\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3\|_{L^q}.$$
(5.70)

This means that the regularity criterion requiring $\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3 \in L^p_t L^q_x$ is not new in the range $\frac{3}{2} < q \leq 6$. In fact, for $\frac{3}{2} < q < +\infty$ this special case of Corollary 5.8, is equivalent to a regularity criterion on two components of the vorticity, which we will discuss in chapter 6, once we have developed the necessary isometry between $\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3$ and $(\omega_1, \omega_2, 0)$.

While the special case of Corollary 5.8 involving the regularity criterion on $\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3$ is not new, Corollary 5.7 and Corollary 5.8 are stronger than previous results in that they do not require regularity in a fixed direction, but allow this direction to vary. One interpretation of component reduction results for Navier-Stokes regularity criteria, is that if the solution is approximately two dimensional, then it must be smooth. The only reason that we have component reduction regularity criteria for the 3D Navier-Stokes equation, is because the 2D Navier-Stokes equation has smooth solutions globally in time. All of the previous component reduction regularity criteria involve some fixed direction, and so can be interpreted as saying if a solution is globally approximately two dimensional, then it must be smooth. Corollary 5.7 and Corollary 5.8 strengthen these statements to the requirement that the solution must be regular even if it is only locally two dimensional, and furthermore requires the solution to have a specific three dimensional structure with unbounded planar stretching by the strain matrix. This shows the deep geometric significance of the Theorem 5.2, that λ_2^+ controls the growth of enstrophy.

Chapter 6

A vorticity approach to almost two dimensional initial data

In order to prove the Theorem 1.12, we will need to prove some bounds on the growth of $\|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}$, as well as bound the growth of enstrophy in terms of $\|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}$. In order to do this we will need to consider the evolution equation for the horizontal components of vorticity, ω_h , which is given in the following proposition. Throughout this chapter and the next, we will consider the Navier-Stokes equation with no external force, setting f = 0.

Proposition 6.1 (Two component vorticity equation). Suppose $u \in C([0, T_{max}); H^1_{df})$ is a mild solution, and therefore a classical solution to the Navier-Stokes equation. Then ω_h is a classical solution of

$$\partial_t \omega_h + (u \cdot \nabla)\omega_h - \Delta \omega_h - S\omega_h - S_h \omega = 0, \tag{6.1}$$
where $\omega_h = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_1 \\ \omega_2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and $S_h = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & S_{13} \\ 0 & 0 & S_{23} \\ -S_{13} & -S_{23} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$

Proof. Kato and Fujita proved that mild solutions must be smooth [18], so clearly u is a classical solution to the Navier-Stokes equation. Therefore $\omega = \nabla \times u$ is also smooth and is a classical solution to the vorticity equation:

$$\partial_t \omega + (u \cdot \nabla)\omega - \Delta \omega - S\omega = 0. \tag{6.2}$$

Let $I_h = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. Then we clearly have $\omega_h = I_h \omega$. Multiply the vorticity equation through

by I_h and find that

$$\partial_t \omega_h + (u \cdot \nabla)\omega_h - \Delta \omega_h - I_h S \omega = 0.$$
(6.3)

Next we add and subtract $SI_h\omega$. Therefore,

$$\partial_t \omega_h + (u \cdot \nabla)\omega_h - \Delta \omega_h - I_h S \omega + S I_h \omega - S I_h \omega = 0.$$
(6.4)

Regrouping terms we find that

$$\partial_t \omega_h + (u \cdot \nabla)\omega_h - \Delta \omega_h - (I_h S - S I_h)\omega - S(I_h \omega) = 0.$$
(6.5)

Recall that $I_h \omega = \omega_h$ and compute that $S_h = I_h S - SI_h$, and this completes the proof.

One of the key aspects in our proof is a generalization of the isometry in Proposition 3.1 that tells us $||S||_{L^2}^2 = \frac{1}{2} ||\omega||_{L^2}^2$, to an isometry that involves just one column of S and just two components of ω . In order to state this isometry, we will define the vectors v^1, v^2, v^3 as follows.

Definition 6.2. For $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ define $v^i = \partial_i u + \nabla u_i$. Note in particular that $v^i_j = 2S_{ij}$, for all $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. Equivalently, note that v^1, v^2, v^3 are the columns of 2S.

With these vectors defined, we can restate our identity for enstrophy growth in Corollary 3.3 in terms of v^1, v^2, v^3 .

Proposition 6.3 (Triple product enstrophy identity). Let $u \in C([0, T_{max}); H^1_{df})$ be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation. Then for all $0 \le t < T_{max}$, we have

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(v^1 \times v^2\right) \cdot v^3.$$
(6.6)

Proof. We know that v^1, v^2, v^3 are the columns of 2S, so by the triple product representation of the determinant of a three by three matrix

$$\det\left(2S\right) = \left(v^1 \times v^2\right) \cdot v^3. \tag{6.7}$$

The three by three determinant is homogeneous of order three, so

$$\det\left(2S\right) = 8\det\left(S\right).\tag{6.8}$$

Therefore we conclude that

$$-4\det(S) = \left(v^1 \times v^2\right) \cdot v^3.$$
(6.9)

Recalling from Proposition 3.12 that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - 4\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \det(S), \tag{6.10}$$

this completes the proof.

We will now prove an isometry that relates Hilbert norms v^3 and ω_h to each other and to $\partial_3 u$ and ∇u_3 , as well as bounding Hilbert norms of S_h by ω_h .

Lemma 6.4 (Two component isometry). Suppose $u \in H^1_{df}$. Then for all $-1 \le \alpha \le 0$,

$$\|v^3\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 = \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 = \|\partial_3 u\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 + \|\nabla u_3\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2$$
(6.11)

and

$$\|S_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}} \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}.$$
 (6.12)

Proof. First we observe that

$$\partial_3 u - \nabla u_3 = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_3 u_1 - \partial_1 u_3 \\ \partial_3 u_2 - \partial_2 u_3 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_2 \\ -\omega_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.13)

Therefore clearly

$$\|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}} = \|\partial_3 u - \nabla u_3\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}.$$
(6.14)

This means we can compute that

$$|\omega_{h}||_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} = \|\partial_{3}u - \nabla u_{3}\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} = \|\partial_{3}u\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} + \|\nabla u_{3}\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} - 2\langle\partial_{3}u, \nabla u_{3}\rangle_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}, \qquad (6.15)$$

$$\|v^{3}\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} = \|\partial_{3}u + \nabla u_{3}\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} = \|\partial_{3}u\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} + \|\nabla u_{3}\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} + 2\langle\partial_{3}u, \nabla u_{3}\rangle_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}.$$
 (6.16)

Next we observe that because $\nabla \cdot u = 0$, then clearly $\nabla \cdot \partial_3 u = 0$. Therefore $\partial_3 u$ and ∇u_3 are orthogonal in \dot{H}^{α} , so

$$\langle \partial_3 u, \nabla u_3 \rangle_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}} = 0. \tag{6.17}$$

Therefore we conclude that

$$\|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 = \|v^3\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 = \|\partial_3 u\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 + \|\nabla u_3\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2.$$
(6.18)

Finally we see that

$$|S_h|^2 = 2S_{13}^2 + 2S_{23}^2 \le 2S_{13}^2 + 2S_{23}^2 + 2S_{33}^2 = \frac{1}{2}|v^3|^2.$$
(6.19)

Therefore we can conclude that

$$\|S_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 \le \frac{1}{2} \|v^3\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2.$$
(6.20)

This completes the proof.

Remark 6.5. Another way to see this isometry, is that

$$\|Se_3\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 = \frac{1}{4} \|e_3 \times \omega\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2.$$
(6.21)

In fact, for any fixed vector $v \in \mathbb{R}^3$ we will have

$$\|Sv\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \|v \times \omega\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2}.$$
(6.22)

This is directly related to Proposition 3.1, because

$$\|S\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} = \|Se_{1}\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} + \|Se_{2}\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2} + \|Se_{3}\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2}$$

$$(6.23)$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} \left(\|e_1 \times \omega\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 + \|e_2 \times \omega\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 + \|e_3 \times \omega\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^2 \right)$$
(6.24)

$$= \frac{1}{2} \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^{\alpha}}^{2}. \tag{6.25}$$

This shows that the isometry between the symmetric and anti-symmetric part of the gradient, between strain and vorticity, not only holds overall, but also in any fixed direction.

This isometry, together with the identity for enstrophy growth in Proposition 6.3, will allow us to prove a new bound on the growth of enstrophy in terms of the critical Hilbert norm of ω_h . Before we proceed with this estimate, we will note that there is also a generalization of this result in L^q . The L^q norms of v^3 and ω_h are also equivalent, although not necessarily equal. **Proposition 6.6** (Two component equivalence). Fix $1 < q < +\infty$ and let $B_q \ge 1$ be the constant from the Helmholtz decomposition, Proposition 1.3. Then for all $u \in \dot{W}_{df}^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^3)$,

$$\frac{1}{2B_q} \|\omega_h\|_{L^q} \le \|v^3\|_{L^q} \le 2B_q \|\omega_h\|_{L^q}.$$
(6.26)

Proof. As we have already seen,

$$\partial_3 u - \nabla u_3 = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_2 \\ -\omega_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.27}$$

so clearly

$$\|\omega_h\|_{L^q} = \|\partial_3 u - \nabla u_3\|_{L^q}.$$
 (6.28)

Observing that $\partial_3 u = P_{df} (\partial_3 u - \nabla u_3)$, and $\nabla u_3 = P_g (\partial_3 u - \nabla u_3)$, we can apply Proposition 1.3 and find that

$$\|\partial_3 u\|_{L^q} \le B_q \|\omega_h\|_{L^q},\tag{6.29}$$

$$\|\nabla u_3\|_{L^q} \le B_q \|\omega_h\|_{L^q}.$$
(6.30)

Recalling that $v^3 = \partial_3 u + \nabla u_3$, we apply the triangle inequality and find that

$$\|v^3\|_{L^q} \le \|\partial_3 u\|_{L^q} + \|\nabla u_3\|_{L^q} \le 2B_q \|\omega_h\|_{L^q}.$$
(6.31)

We have proven the second inequality. Now we need to show that $\|\omega_h\|_{L^q} \leq 2B_q \|v^3\|_{L^q}$. The argument is essentially the same. Observe that $\partial_3 u = P_{df}(v^3)$ and $\nabla u_3 = P_g(v^3)$. Therefore from Proposition 1.3, we find that

$$\|\partial_3 u\|_{L^q} \le B_q \|v^3\|_{L^q},\tag{6.32}$$

$$\|\nabla u_3\|_{L^q} \le B_q \|v^3\|_{L^q}. \tag{6.33}$$

Applying the triangle inequality, we find that

$$\|\omega_h\|_{L^q} \le \|\partial_3 u\|_{L^q} + \|\nabla u_3\|_{L^q} \le 2B_q \|v^3\|_{L^q}.$$
(6.34)

This completes the proof.

Proposition 6.7 (Two vorticity components control enstrophy growth). Taking C_1 and C_2 as in Lemmas 4.3 and 4.5, let $R_1 = \frac{1}{2C_1C_2}$. Then for all mild solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left([0, T_{max}); H_{df}^1\right)$, we have

$$\partial_t \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -\frac{2}{R_1} \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 \left(R_1\nu - \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}\right).$$
(6.35)

In particular, if $T_{max} < +\infty$, then

$$\lim_{t \to T_{max}} \sup \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \ge R_1 \nu.$$
(6.36)

Proof. We begin by applying Proposition 6.3, Lemma 6.4, and the duality of $\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ and $\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}$. We find that:

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(v^1 \times v^2\right) \cdot v^3 \tag{6.37}$$

$$\leq -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \|v^{3}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \|v^{1} \times v^{2}\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(6.38)

$$= -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \|\omega_{h}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \|v^{1} \times v^{2}\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(6.39)

$$= -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \|\omega_{h}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \|\nabla \left(v^{1} \times v^{2}\right)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
(6.40)

Next we apply the fractional Sobolev inequality, the chain rule for gradients, the generalized Hölder inequality, and the Sobolev inequality to find that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + \frac{1}{2}C_1 \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \|\nabla\left(v^1 \times v^2\right)\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}$$
(6.41)

$$\leq -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}C_{1}\|\omega_{h}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \left(\|\left(|\nabla v^{1}||v^{2}|\right)\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} + \|\left(|v^{1}||\nabla v^{2}|\right)\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right)$$
(6.42)

$$\leq -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}C_{1}\|\omega_{h}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \left(\|\nabla v^{1}\|_{L^{2}}\|v^{2}\|_{L^{6}} + \|v^{1}\|_{L^{6}}\|\nabla v^{2}\|_{L^{2}}\right)$$
(6.43)

$$\leq -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + C_{1}C_{2}\|\omega_{h}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \|\nabla v^{1}\|_{L^{2}} \|\nabla v^{2}\|_{L^{2}}.$$
(6.44)

Finally observe that the vectors v^i are the columns of 2S, so

$$\|\nabla v^{i}\|_{L^{2}} = \|v^{i}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \le 2\|S\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}.$$
(6.45)

Therefore we find that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -2\nu \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + 4C_1 C_2 \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \|S\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2.$$
(6.46)

Applying Proposition 3.1 and recalling that $\frac{1}{R_1} = 2C_1C_2$, we find that

$$\partial_t \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -2\nu \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 + 4C_1 C_2 \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 \tag{6.47}$$

$$= -\frac{2}{R_1} \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^2}^2 \left(R_1 \nu - \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \right).$$
(6.48)

This completes the proof of the bound.

Now we will prove the second piece. Suppose $T_{max} < +\infty$. Then

$$\lim_{t \to T_{max}} \sup \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = +\infty.$$
(6.49)

Therefore, for all $\epsilon > 0$, $\|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}$ is not nonincreasing on the interval $(T_{max} - \epsilon, T_{max})$. Therefore, for all $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $t \in (T_{max} - \epsilon, T_{max})$, such that $\partial_t \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2} > 0$. Applying the bound we have just proven, this implies that for all $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $t \in (T_{max} - \epsilon, T_{max})$ such that

$$\|\omega_h(\cdot,t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} > R_1\nu.$$
(6.50)

Therefore,

$$\limsup_{t \to T_{max}} \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \ge R_1 \nu.$$
(6.51)

This completes the proof.

We will note that this is the $\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ version of a theorem proved in $L^{\frac{3}{2}}$ by Chae and Choe in [6]. Their result is the following.

Theorem 6.8 (Two component regularity criterion). Let $u \in C([0, T_{max}); \dot{H}^1_{df})$, be a mild solution to the Navier-Stokes equation. There exists C > 0 independent of ν such that if $T_{max} < +\infty$, then

$$\limsup_{t \to T_{max}} \left\| \omega_h \right\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \ge C\nu. \tag{6.52}$$

Furthermore, for all $\frac{3}{2} < q < +\infty$, let $\frac{3}{q} + \frac{2}{p} = 2$. There exists $C_q > 0$ defending on only p, q and ν such that

$$E(t) \le E_0 \exp\left(C_q \int_0^t \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{L^q}^p dt\right).$$
 (6.53)

Proposition 6.7 extends the result of Chae and Choe from a lower bound on ω_h in $L^{\frac{3}{2}}$ near a possible singularity to a lower bound in $\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ near a possible singularity. The analysis of the relationship between ω_h and v^3 also sheds some light on a relationship between Theorem 6.8 and Corollary 5.8.

We will note here that Proposition 6.6 implies that the regularity criterion on $\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3$, the special case of Corollary 5.8 when the direction is taken to be fixed, is equivalent to Chae and Choe's result in Theorem 6.8 for $\frac{3}{2} < q < +\infty$, because we have shown that for $1 < q < +\infty$, $\|\omega_h\|_{L^q}$ and $\|\partial_3 u + \nabla u_3\|_{L^q}$ are equivalent norms.

We previously found a bound for enstrophy growth in terms of $\|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}$. The next step will be to prove a bound on the growth of $\|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}$ using the evolution equation for ω_h in Proposition 6.1 and the bounds in Proposition 6.4.

Proposition 6.9 (Grönwall type bound for two vorticity components). Taking C_1 and C_2 as in Lemmas 4.3 and 4.5, let $\frac{1}{R_2} = \frac{27}{128} \left(1 + \sqrt{2}\right)^4 C_1^4 C_2^4$. Then for all mild solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left([0, T_{max}); H_{df}^1\right)$ and for all $0 \le t < T_{max}$,

$$\partial_t \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 \le \frac{1}{R_2 \nu^3} \|\omega\|_{L^2}^4 \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2.$$
(6.54)

Furthermore, for all $0 \le t < T_{max}$

$$\|\omega_h(\cdot,t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 \le \|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 \exp\left(\frac{1}{R_2\nu^3}\int_0^t \|\omega(\cdot,\tau)\|_{L^2}^4 d\tau\right).$$
(6.55)

Proof. We begin by using the evolution equation for ω_h in Proposition 6.1 to compute that

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 = -\nu \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^2 - \left\langle (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \omega_h, (u \cdot \nabla) \omega_h \right\rangle + \left\langle (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \omega_h, S \omega_h + S_h \omega \right\rangle.$$
(6.56)

Next we bound the last term using the duality of \dot{H}^1 and \dot{H}^{-1} :

$$\left\langle (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h, S\omega_h + S_h\omega \right\rangle \le \|(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|S\omega_h + \omega_h S\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}}$$
(6.57)

$$= \|\omega_h\|_{L^2} \|S\omega_h + \omega_h S\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}}$$
(6.58)

$$\leq C_2 \|\omega_h\|_{L^2} \|S_h \omega + S \omega_h\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}, \tag{6.59}$$

where we have applied the definition of the \dot{H}^1 to show that $\|(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^1} = \|\omega_h\|_{L^2}$, and then applied the Sobolev inequality in Lemma 4.5. Applying the triangle inequality, the generalized Hölder inequality, and the fractional Sobolev inequality we can see that

$$\left\langle (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h, S\omega_h + S_h\omega \right\rangle \le C_2 \|\omega_h\|_{L^2} \left(\|S_h\omega\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} + \|S\omega_h\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} \right)$$
(6.60)

$$\leq C_2 \|\omega_h\|_{L^2} \left(\|S_h\|_{L^3} \|\omega\|_{L^2} + \|S\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{L^3} \right)$$
(6.61)

$$\leq C_1 C_2 \|\omega_h\|_{L^2} \left(\|S_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \|\omega\|_{L^2} + \|S\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \right).$$
(6.62)

Applying Lemma 6.4 we observe that $||S_h||_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} ||\omega_h||_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$, and applying Proposition 3.1 we observe that $||S||_{L^2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} ||\omega||_{L^2}$. Finally we can conclude that

$$\left\langle (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h, S\omega_h + S_h\omega \right\rangle \le \sqrt{2}C_1C_2 \|\omega_h\|_{L^2} \|\omega\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(6.63)

$$\leq \sqrt{2}C_1C_2 \|\omega\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{3}{2}}}^{\frac{3}{2}}, \qquad (6.64)$$

where we have interpolated between \dot{H}^{-1} and \dot{H}^{1} , observing that $\|\omega_{h}\|_{L^{2}} \leq \|\omega_{h}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\omega_{h}\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

We now turn our attention to the term $-\left\langle (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h, (u\cdot\nabla)\omega_h \right\rangle$. First we note that $u \in C\left((0, T_{max}); H^{\infty}\right)$, due to the higher regularity of mild solutions, so we have sufficient regularity to integrate by parts. Using the fact that $\nabla \cdot u = 0$, conclude that

$$-\left\langle (-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h, (u\cdot\nabla)\omega_h \right\rangle = \left\langle (u\cdot\nabla)(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h, \omega_h \right\rangle.$$
(6.65)

Applying the generalized Hölder inequality, the Sobolev inequality, and the isometry in Proposition 3.1, and interpolating between \dot{H}^{-1} and \dot{H}^{1} as above, we find that

=

$$\left\langle (u \cdot \nabla)(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h, \omega_h \right\rangle \le \|u\|_{L^6} \|\nabla(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\omega_h\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{L^3}$$
 (6.66)

$$= \|u\|_{L^6} \|\omega_h\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{L^3} \tag{6.67}$$

$$\leq C_1 C_2 \|u\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|\omega_h\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \tag{6.68}$$

$$= C_1 C_2 \|\omega\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(6.69)

$$\leq C_1 C_2 \|\omega\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(6.70)

Combining the bounds in (6.64) and (6.70), we find that

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 \le -\nu \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^2 + \left(1 + \sqrt{2}\right) C_1 C_2 \|\omega\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(6.71)

Setting $r = \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$, we can see that

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 \le \sup_{r>0} \left(-\nu r^2 + \left(1 + \sqrt{2}\right) C_1 C_2 \|\omega\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 r^{\frac{3}{2}} \right).$$
(6.72)

Let $f(r) = -\nu r^2 + M r^{\frac{3}{2}}$, where $M = (1 + \sqrt{2}) C_1 C_2 \|\omega\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Observe that

$$f'(r) = -2\nu r + \frac{3}{2}Mr^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(6.73)

Therefore f has a global max at $r_0 = \sqrt{\frac{3M}{4\nu}}$. This implies that

$$\sup_{r>0} \left(-\nu r^2 + \left(1 + \sqrt{2}\right) C_1 C_2 \|\omega\|_{L^2} \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^{\frac{1}{2}} r^{\frac{3}{2}} \right) = f(r_0) = \frac{27}{256\nu^3} M^4.$$
(6.74)

Substituting in for M, we find that

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 \le \frac{27\left(1 + \sqrt{2}\right)^4 C_1^4 C_2^4}{256\nu^3} \|\omega\|_{L^2}^4 \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2.$$
(6.75)

Multiplying both sides by 2, and substituting in $\frac{1}{R_2} = \frac{27(1+\sqrt{2})^4 C_1^4 C_2^4}{128}$, observe that

$$\partial_t \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 \le \frac{1}{R_2 \nu^3} \|\omega\|_{L^2}^4 \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2.$$
(6.76)

Applying Grönwall's inequality, this completes the proof.

With this bound, we now have developed all the machinery we need to prove the main result of this chapter, Theorem 1.12, which is restated here for the reader's convenience.

Theorem 6.10 (Global regularity for two components of vorticity small). For each initial condition $u^0 \in \dot{H}^1_{df}$ such that

$$\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{K_0 E_0 - 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4}{R_2 \nu^3}\right) < R_1 \nu, \tag{6.77}$$

 u^0 generates a unique, global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left((0, +\infty); H^1_{df}\right)$, that is $T_{max} = +\infty$. Note that the smallness condition can be equivalently stated as

$$K_0 E_0 < 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4 + R_2 \nu^3 \log\left(\frac{R_1 \nu}{\|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}}\right),\tag{6.78}$$

and that the constants R_1 and R_2 are taken as in Propositions 6.7 and 6.9.

Proof. We will prove the contrapositive. That is we will show that $T_{max} < +\infty$ implies that

$$\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{K_0 E_0 - 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4}{R_2 \nu^3}\right) \ge R_1 \nu.$$
(6.79)

Using Proposition 4.6, $T_{max} < +\infty$ implies that $K_0 E_0 \ge 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4$. This means that

$$\exp\left(\frac{K_0 E_0 - 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4}{R_2 \nu^3}\right) \ge 1.$$
(6.80)

48

If $\|\omega_h^0\|_{\mu^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \ge R_1 \nu$, this completes the proof.

Now Suppose $\|\omega_h^0\|_{H^{-\frac{1}{2}}} < R_1\nu$. We know that

$$\lim_{t \to T_{max}} \sup \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2} = +\infty.$$
(6.81)

Therefore $\|\omega(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}$ cannot be non-decreasing on $(0,T_{max})$. There exists $0 < \tilde{t} < T_{max}$ such that $\partial_t \|\omega(\cdot,\tilde{t})\|_{L^2}^2 > 0$. By Proposition 6.7, we can conclude that there exists $0 < \tilde{t} < T_{max}$ such that $\|\omega_h(\cdot,\tilde{t})\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} > R_1\nu$. $\omega_h \in C\left([0,T_{max});\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)$, so by the intermediate value theorem, there exists $0 < t < \tilde{t}$, such that $\|\omega_h(\cdot,t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} = R_1\nu$. Let T be the first such time. That is, define $T < T_{max}$ by

$$T = \inf\left\{t < T_{max} : \|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} = R_1\nu\right\}.$$
(6.82)

It is clear from the intermediate value theorem and the fact that $\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} < R_1\nu$, that for all t < T, $\|\omega_h(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} < R_1\nu$.

Applying Proposition 6.7, this implies that for all t < T, $\partial_t \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 < 0$. Using Proposition 6.9, observe that

$$R_1 \nu = \|\omega_h(\cdot, T)\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \le \|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{2R_2\nu^3} \int_0^T \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^4 dt\right).$$
(6.83)

Using the fact that $\|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}$ is decreasing on the interval [0, T], we can pull out a factor of $\|\omega^0\|_{L^2}^2$, and conclude

$$R_{1}\nu \leq \|\omega_{h}^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{2R_{2}\nu^{3}}\|\omega^{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\int_{0}^{T}\|\omega(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}dt\right).$$
(6.84)

We know from the energy equality that

$$\int_{0}^{T} \|\omega(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} dt = \frac{1}{2} \|u^{0}\|_{L^{2}} - \frac{1}{2} \|u(\cdot,T)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(6.85)

Therefore

$$R_{1}\nu \leq \|\omega_{h}^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{2R_{2}\nu^{3}}\|\omega^{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}\|u^{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}-\frac{1}{2}\|u(\cdot,T)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right)\right).$$
(6.86)

Again using the fact that $\|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}$ is decreasing on the interval [0, T], and therefore that $\|\omega(\cdot, T)\|_{L^2} < \|\omega^0\|_{L^2}$, we may conclude that

$$R_{1}\nu \leq \|\omega_{h}^{0}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{R_{2}\nu^{3}}\left(\frac{1}{2}\|u^{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\frac{1}{2}\|\omega^{0}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\|\omega(\cdot,T)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\frac{1}{2}\|u(\cdot,T)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right)\right).$$
(6.87)

This means that

$$R_1 \nu \le \|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{R_2 \nu^3} \left(K_0 E_0 - K(T) E(T)\right)\right).$$
(6.88)

Applying Corollary 4.7, $K(T)E(T) \ge 6,912\pi^4\nu^4$, so

$$\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{K_0 E_0 - 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4}{R_2 \nu^3}\right) \le \|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{R_2 \nu^3} \left(K_0 E_0 - 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4\right)\right).$$
(6.89)

Therefore $T_{max} < +\infty$ implies that

$$\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{1}{R_2\nu^3} \left(K_0 E_0 - 6,912\pi^4\nu^4\right)\right) \ge R_1\nu.$$
(6.90)

This completes the proof.

Chapter 7

Relationship of the vorticity approach to previous results

In this chapter we will consider the relationship between the vorticity approach to almost two dimensional initial data developed in chapter 6 and previous global regularity results for almost two dimensional initial data. Gallagher and Chemin proved in [9] that initial data re-scaled so it varies slowly in one direction must generate global smooth solutions.

Theorem 7.1 (Global regularity in the well prepared case). Let $v_h^0 = (v_1, v_2)$ be a smooth divergence free vector field on \mathbb{R}^3 that belongs, along with all of its derivatives, to $L^2\left(\mathbb{R}_{x_3}; \dot{H}^{-1}\left(\mathbb{R}^2\right)\right)$, and let w^0 be any smooth divergence free vector field from \mathbb{R}^3 to \mathbb{R}^3 . For each $\epsilon > 0$ define the re-scaled initial data by

$$u^{0,\epsilon}(x) = (v_h^0 + \epsilon w_h^0, w_3^0)(x_h, \epsilon x_3).$$
(7.1)

Then there exists $\epsilon_0 > 0$, such that for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$, the initial data $u^{0,\epsilon}$ generates a global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equations.

This is often referred to as the well-prepared case, because $v_3^0 = 0$, and so $v^{0,\epsilon}$ converges to a two dimensional vector field in the sense that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$.

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} u^{0,\epsilon}(x) = (v_h^0, w_3^0)(x_h, 0).$$
(7.2)

We will also note that global regularity in Theorem 7.1 is not a consequence of Koch and Tataru's theorem on global regularity for small initial data in BMO^{-1} , because, subject to certain conditions, $v^{0,\epsilon}$ is large in $B_{\infty,\infty}^{-1}$, the largest scale-critical space.

Gallagher, Chemin, and Paicu generalized this result to the ill-prepared case in [10].

Theorem 7.2 (Global regularity in the ill prepared case). Let u^0 be a divergence free vector field on $\mathbb{T}^2 \times \mathbb{R}$, and for each $\epsilon > 0$ let our rescaling be given by

$$u^{0,\epsilon}(x) = (u_h^0, \frac{1}{\epsilon}u_3^0)(x_h, \epsilon x_3).$$
(7.3)

For all a > 0 there exists $\epsilon_0, \mu > 0$ such that if

$$\|\exp(a|D_3|)u^0\|_{H^4(\mathbb{T}^2 \times \mathbb{R})} \le \mu,$$
(7.4)

then for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$, the initial data $u^{0,\epsilon}$ generates a global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation.

This is referred to as the ill-prepared case because whenever u_3^0 is not identically zero, this clearly does not converge to any almost two dimensional vector field. The proof of this result is quite technical, in particular because all control over $u_3^{0,\epsilon}$ is lost as $\epsilon \to 0$. This means that the proofs do not rely on L^p or Sobolev space estimates, but are based on controlling regularity via a Banach space, B^s that is introduced. The theorem in the paper is actually proved in terms of $B^{\frac{7}{2}}$ and the result in terms of H^4 follows as a corollary.

The underlying reason for these technical difficulties is that, in order to maintain the divergence free structure needed for the Navier-Stokes equation, making the solution vary slowly in x_3 requires us to make $u_3^{0,\epsilon}$ large, so that applying the chain rule,

$$\nabla \cdot u^{0,\epsilon}(x) = (\partial_1 u_1^0 + \partial_2 u_2^0 + \epsilon \frac{1}{\epsilon} \partial_3 u_3^0)(x_h, \epsilon x_3) = (\nabla \cdot u^0)(x_h, \epsilon x_3) = 0.$$
(7.5)

One way to get around this technical difficulty without the restriction that $v_3^0 = 0$, is to perform the rescaling in terms of the vorticity, rather than the velocity. For a solution to be almost two dimensional, we want both and u_3 to be small and for the solution to vary slowly with respect to x_3 , but the divergence free condition doesn't let us scale both out simultaneously.

On the vorticity side however, a two dimensional flow has its vorticity in the vertical direction, so an almost two dimensional flow corresponds to one in which ω_1 and ω_2 are small, and which varies slowly with respect to x_3 . Take

$$\omega^{0,\epsilon} = (\epsilon \omega_h, \omega_3)(x_h, \epsilon x_3). \tag{7.6}$$

This re-scaling preserves the divergence free condition, because applying the chain rule

$$\nabla \cdot \omega^{0,\epsilon}(x) = \epsilon (\nabla \cdot \omega^0)(x_h, \epsilon x_3) = 0.$$
(7.7)

Furthermore, this is a re-scaling which allows us to to converge to an almost two dimensional initial data without any restrictions such as $v_3^0 = 0$. Theorem 1.12, is not strong enough to prove there is global regularity for sufficiently small ϵ with this re-scaling, because it is only a logarithmic correction. We will, however prove an analogous result that is slightly weaker in terms of scaling, because it grows more slowly in the critical norms as $\epsilon \to 0$, but still becomes large in the critical space $L^{\frac{3}{2}}$; this result in Theorem 1.13 in the introduction, which is restated here for the reader's convenience.

Theorem 7.3 (Global regularity for rescaled vorticity). Fix a > 0. For all $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$, $0 < \epsilon < 1$ let

$$\omega^{0,\epsilon}(x) = \epsilon^{\frac{2}{3}} \left(\log\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon^a}\right) \right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\epsilon \omega_1^0, \epsilon \omega_2^0, \omega_3^0 \right) (x_1, x_2, \epsilon x_3), \tag{7.8}$$

and define $u^{0,\epsilon}$ using the Biot-Savart law by

$$u^{0,\epsilon} = \nabla \times (-\Delta)^{-1} \,\omega^{0,\epsilon}. \tag{7.9}$$

For all $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$ and for all $0 < a < \frac{4R_2\nu^3}{C_2^2 \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^2}^2 \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^2}^2}$, there exists $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that for all $0 < \epsilon < 1$

 ϵ_0 , there is a unique, global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left((0, +\infty); H^1_{df}\right)$ with $u(\cdot, 0) = u^{0,\epsilon}$. Furthermore if ω_3^0 is not identically zero, then the initial vorticity becomes large in the critical space $L^{\frac{3}{2}}$ as $\epsilon \to 0$, that is

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} = +\infty.$$
(7.10)

We note that while Theorem 7.3 is weaker in terms of scaling than Theorem 7.2 proven in [10], it is stronger in the sense that it allows us to take as initial data the re-scalings of arbitrary $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$, whereas Theorem 7.2 requires that the we re-scale $u^0 \in H^4$ that is also smooth with respect to x_3 . The regularity hypotheses on u^0 in Theorem 7.3 are the weakest available in order to ensure global regularity for initial data rescaled to be almost two dimensional. Before proving Theorem 7.3, we will need to state a corollary of Theorem 1.12 that guarantees global regularity purely in terms of L^p norms of ω .

Corollary 7.4. For all $u^0 \in \dot{H}^1_{df}$ such at

$$C_1 \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{\frac{1}{4}C_2^2 \|\omega^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} \|\omega^0\|_{L^2}^2 - 6,912\pi^4\nu^4}{R_2\nu^3}\right) < R_1\nu,$$
(7.11)

 u^0 generates a unique, global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left((0, +\infty); H^1_{df}\right)$, that is $T_{max} = +\infty$, with C_2 taken as in Lemma 4.5, and R_1 and R_2 taken as in Theorem 1.12.

Proof. This is a corollary of Theorem 1.12. Suppose

$$C_1 \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{\frac{1}{4}C_2^2 \|\omega^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2 \|\omega^0\|_{L^2}^2 - 6,912\pi^4\nu^4}{R_2\nu^3}\right) < R_1\nu.$$
(7.12)

We know from the fractional Sobolev inequality, Lemma 4.3, that

$$\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \le C_1 \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}},\tag{7.13}$$

and from the Sobolev inequality, Lemma 4.5, that

$$K_0 = \frac{1}{2} \|\omega^0\|_{L^2}^2 \le \frac{1}{2} C_2^2 \|\omega^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2.$$
(7.14)

Therefore we can conclude that

$$\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{K_0 E_0 - 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4}{R_2 \nu^3}\right) \le C_1 \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{\frac{1}{4}C_2^2 \|\omega^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} \|\omega^0\|_{L^2}^2 - 6,912\pi^4 \nu^4}{R_2 \nu^3}\right).$$
(7.15)

This implies that

$$\left\|\omega_{h}^{0}\right\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{K_{0}E_{0}-6,912\pi^{4}\nu^{4}}{R_{2}\nu^{3}}\right) < R_{1}\nu.$$
(7.16)

Applying Theorem 1.12, this completes the proof.

Remark 7.5. For all $1 \le q < +\infty$, and for all $f \in L^q(\mathbb{R}^3)$

$$\|f^{\epsilon}\|_{L^{q}} = \epsilon^{-\frac{1}{q}} \|f\|_{L^{q}},\tag{7.17}$$

where $f^{\epsilon}(x) = f(x_1, x_2, \epsilon x_3), \epsilon > 0$. This is an elementary computation for the rescaling of the L^q norm in one direction.

We will now prove Theorem 7.3.

Proof. Fix $u^0 \in H^1_{df}$ and $0 < a < \frac{4R_2\nu^3}{C_2^2 \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2 \omega_3^0\|_{L^2}^2}$. We will prove the result using Corollary 7.4. Applying Remark 7.5, we find that

$$\|\omega_h^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} = \epsilon \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}.$$
(7.18)

Similarly we apply Remark 7.5, to compute the other relevant L^q norms in Corollary 7.4:

$$\|\omega_3^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^2} = \epsilon^{\frac{1}{6}} \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^2},\tag{7.19}$$

$$\|\omega_h^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^2} = \epsilon^{\frac{1}{6}} \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^2},\tag{7.20}$$

$$\|\omega_3^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} = \epsilon^{-\frac{1}{6}} \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}},\tag{7.21}$$

$$\|\omega_h^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} = \epsilon^{\frac{5}{6}} \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}.$$
(7.22)

Using the triangle inequality for norms we can see that

$$\|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^2} \le \|\omega_3^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^2} + \|\omega_h^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^2}$$
(7.23)

$$=\epsilon^{\frac{1}{6}}\log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}\|\omega_{3}^{0}\|_{L^{2}}+\epsilon^{\frac{7}{6}}\log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}\|\omega_{h}^{0}\|_{L^{2}}.$$
(7.24)

Likewise we may compute that

$$\|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} \le \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}_{3}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} + \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}_{h}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}$$
(7.25)

$$= \epsilon^{-\frac{1}{6}} \log \left(\epsilon^{-a} \right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left\| \omega_3^0 \right\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} + \epsilon^{\frac{5}{6}} \log \left(\epsilon^{-a} \right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left\| \omega_h^0 \right\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}.$$
 (7.26)

Combining these inequalities and factoring out the $\log (\epsilon^{-a})^{\frac{1}{4}}$ terms we find that

$$\|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^{2} \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \le \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right) \left(\|\omega_{3}^{0}\|_{L^{2}} + \epsilon\|\omega_{h}^{0}\|_{L^{2}}\right)^{2} \left(\|\omega_{3}^{0}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^{2} + \epsilon\|\omega_{h}^{0}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^{2}\right)^{2}.$$
(7.27)

Dividing by $R_2\nu^3$ and taking the exponential of both sides of this inequality, we find that

$$\exp\left(\frac{C_2^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^2}^2}{4R_2\nu^3}\right) \le \epsilon^{-a \frac{C_2^2 (\|\omega_3^0\|_{L^2} + \epsilon \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^2})^2 (\|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} + \epsilon \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}})^2}{4R_2\nu^3}}.$$
 (7.28)

Combining this with the estimate (7.18), we find that

$$\left\|\omega_{h}^{0,\epsilon}\right\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{C_{2}^{2} \left\|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\right\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^{2} \left\|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2}}{4R_{2}\nu^{3}}\right) \leq \epsilon^{1-a \frac{C_{2}^{2} \left(\left\|\omega_{3}^{0}\right\|_{L^{2}}+\epsilon\left\|\omega_{h}^{0}\right\|_{L^{2}}\right)^{2} \left(\left\|\omega_{3}^{0}\right\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}+\epsilon\left\|\omega_{h}^{0}\right\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}\right)^{2}}{4R_{2}\nu^{3}} \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left\|\omega_{h}^{0}\right\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}$$
(7.29)

We know from the definition of a that

$$a \frac{\|w_3^0\|_{L^2}^2 \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2}{R_2 \nu^3} < 1,$$
(7.30)

so fix $% \left({{{\left({{{}}}}}} \right)}}} \right.$

$$0 < \delta < 1 - a \frac{\|w_3^0\|_{L^2}^2 \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2}{R_2 \nu^3}.$$
(7.31)

Clearly we can see that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} 1 - a \frac{\left(\|\omega_3^0\|_{L^2} + \epsilon \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^2} \right)^2 \left(\|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} + \epsilon \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} \right)^2}{R_2 \nu^3} = 1 - a \frac{\|w_3^0\|_{L^2}^2 \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2}{R_2 \nu^3}.$$
(7.32)

Therefore, there exists r > 0, such that for all $0 < \epsilon < r$,

$$1 - a \frac{\left(\|\omega_3^0\|_{L^2} + \epsilon \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^2}\right)^2 \left(\|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}} + \epsilon \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}\right)^2}{R_2 \nu^3} > \delta.$$
(7.33)

Then for all $0 < \epsilon < \min(1, r)$,

$$\epsilon^{1-a\frac{\left(\|\omega_{3}^{0}\|_{L^{2}}+\epsilon\|\omega_{h}^{0}\|_{L^{2}}\right)^{2}\left(\|\omega_{3}^{0}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}+\epsilon}\|\omega_{h}^{0}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}\right)^{2}}{R_{2}\nu^{3}}<\epsilon^{\delta}.$$
(7.34)

Combining this estimate with the estimate (7.29), we find

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\omega_h^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{C_2^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^2}^2}{4R_2\nu^3}\right) \le \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \epsilon^{\delta} \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
 (7.35)

Making the substitution $k = \frac{1}{\epsilon}$, we find

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \epsilon^{\delta} \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \|\omega_h^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{\log\left(k^a\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}}{k^{\delta}} = 0,$$
(7.36)

because the logarithm grows more slowly than any power. Putting these inequalities together we find that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\omega_h^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{C_2^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^2}{4R_2\nu^3}\right) \le 0.$$
(7.37)

This limit is clearly non-negative, so we can conclude that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\omega_h^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{C_2^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^2}^2}{4R_2\nu^3}\right) = 0.$$
(7.38)

Therefore there exists $\epsilon_0 > 0$, such that for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$,

$$\|\omega_h^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{C_2^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{6}{5}}}^2 \|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^2}^2}{4R_2\nu^3}\right) < \exp\left(\frac{6,912\pi^4\nu^4}{R_2\nu^3}\right) R_1\nu.$$
(7.39)

Applying Corollary 7.4, this means for all $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_0$ there is a unique global smooth solution for initial data $u^{0,\epsilon} \in H^1_{df}$.

Next we will show that unless ω_3^0 is identically zero,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left\| \omega^{0,\epsilon} \right\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} = +\infty.$$
(7.40)

We know that

$$\|\omega^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \ge \|\omega_3^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}},\tag{7.41}$$

so it suffices to show that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\omega_3^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} = +\infty.$$
(7.42)

We can see from Remark 7.5, that

$$\|\omega_3^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} = \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right) \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}}.$$
(7.43)

Therefore we may compute that

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \|\omega_3^{0,\epsilon}\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} = \|\omega_3^0\|_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \log\left(\epsilon^{-a}\right) = +\infty.$$
(7.44)

This completes the proof.

If timie proved the global existence of smooth solutions for the Navier-Stokes equation with three dimensional initial data that are a perturbation of two dimensional initial data. As we mentioned in the introduction, this is possible on the torus, but not on the whole space, in particular because $L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$ defines a subspace of $L^2(\mathbb{T}^3)$, but $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ does not define a subspace of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ because we lose integrability. The precise result If time showed is the following [24]. **Theorem 7.6** (Perturbations of two dimensional initial data). There exists C > 0, such that for all $v^0 \in L^2_{df}(\mathbb{T}^2; \mathbb{R}^3)$, and for all $w^0 \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$, such that

$$\|w^0\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{\|v^0\|_{L^2}^2}{C\nu^2}\right) \le C\nu,\tag{7.45}$$

there exists a unique, global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation with initial data $u^0 = v^0 + w^0$.

In fact, If time proves something slightly stronger. The result still holds if the space $H^{\frac{1}{2}}$ is replaced by the anisotrophic space $H^{\delta,\delta,\frac{1}{2}-\delta}$, $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{2}$ which is the space given by taking

the $H^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta}$ norm with respect to x_3 , leaving x_1, x_2 fixed, giving us a function of x_1 and x_2 , then taking the H^{δ} norm with respect to x_2 and so forth. In the range $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{2}$, these spaces strictly contain $H^{\frac{1}{2}}$. This result was also extended to the case of the Navier-Stokes equation with an external force by Gallagher [20], but only where the control in w^0 is in the critical Hilbert space $\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}$, not in these more complicated, anisotropic spaces. These anisotropic spaces are quite messy; in particular we will note that for $\alpha \neq 0$, $H^{\alpha,\alpha,\alpha} \neq H^{\alpha}(\mathbb{T}^3)$. For this reason, and because the results in this thesis deal with Hilbert spaces, we will focus our comparison of Iftimie's result with ours in the setting of $\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}$. For more details on these anisotropic spaces, see [25].

We will find that Iftimie's result neither implies, nor is implied by, our result, but that they are closely related. In order to compare the results in this thesis to the result proven by Iftimie, it is first necessary to state a version of Theorem 1.12 on the torus. The result will be essentially the same, although possibly with different constants.

Theorem 7.7 (Global regularity for two components of vorticity on the torus). There exists $\tilde{R}_1, \tilde{R}_2, \tilde{R}_3 > 0$ independent of ν , such that or all $u^0 \in H^1_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$ such at

$$\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}^3)} \exp\left(\frac{K_0 E_0 - \tilde{R}_3 \nu^4}{\tilde{R}_2 \nu^3}\right) < \tilde{R}_1 \nu,$$
(7.46)

 u^0 generates a unique, global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation $u \in C\left((0, +\infty); H^1_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)\right)$, that is $T_{max} = +\infty$.

The proof of the this result on the torus is exactly the same as the proof of the result on the whole space. The only reason the constants may be different is because the sharp Sobolev constant may be worse on the torus than the whole space. We will note that when considering solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations on the torus, we include the stipulation that the flow over the whole torus integrates to zero, so

$$\hat{u}(0,0,0) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} u(x) dx = 0.$$
 (7.47)

This normalization is necessary in order to mod out constant functions on the torus, so without this stipulation, we would not in fact be able to make use of Sobolev and fractional Sobolev inequalities.

In order to relate Theorem 7.6 and Theorem 7.7, we will need to define a projection from three dimensional vector fields to two dimensional vector fields, following the approach of Iftimie [24] and Gallagher [22].

Proposition 7.8 (Projection onto two dimensional velocities). Define P_{2d} by

$$P_{2d}(u)(x_h) = \int_0^1 u(x_h, x_3) dx_3.$$
(7.48)

Then for all $1 \leq q \leq +\infty$, $P_{2d}: L^q_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3) \to L^q_{df}(\mathbb{T}^2)$. In particular,

$$\nabla \cdot P_{2d}(u) = 0, \tag{7.49}$$

and

$$\|P_{2d}(u)\|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^2)} \le \|u\|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^3)}.$$
(7.50)

Proof. Notice that we are projecting onto two dimensional vector fields by taking the average in the vertical direction. First we will observe that P_{2d} is a bounded linear map from L^q to L^q . Linearity is clear. As for boundedness, applying Minkowski's inequality, we find

$$\|P_{2d}(u)\|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^2)} \le \int_0^1 \|u_h(\cdot, x_3)\|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^2)} dx_3.$$
(7.51)

Let $f(x_3) = ||u_h(\cdot, x_3)||_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^3)}$, $g(x_3) = 1$, and let $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1$, then apply Hölder's inequality to observe

$$\int_{0}^{1} \|u(\cdot, x_{3})\|_{L^{q}} dx_{3} \leq \|f\|_{L^{q}} \|g\|_{L^{p}} = \|u\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{T}^{3})} 1.$$
(7.52)

So we may conclude that

$$\|P_{2d}(u)\|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^2)} \le \|u\|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^3)}.$$
(7.53)

Now we need to show that for all $u \in L^q_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$, $\nabla \cdot P_{2d}(u) = 0$. First we will show this by formal computation for u smooth, and then we will extend by density. Fix $u \in C^\infty(\mathbb{T}^3)$, $\nabla \cdot u = 0$. Observe that

$$\nabla \cdot P_{2d}(u)(x_1, x_2) = \int_0^1 (\partial_1 u_1 + \partial_2 u_2)(x_1, x_2, x_3) dx_3.$$
(7.54)

Using the fact that $\nabla \cdot u = 0$, we can conclude that $\partial_1 u_1 + \partial_2 u_2 = -\partial_3 u_3$. Applying the fundamental theorem of calculus, and using the fact that u^3 is continuous and periodic, we find

$$\nabla \cdot P_{2d}(u)(x_1, x_2) = -\int_0^1 \partial_3 u_3(x_1, x_2, x_3) dx_3 = -u_3(x_1, x_2, 1) + u_3(x_1, x_2, 0) = 0.$$
(7.55)

We will proceed to proving that $\nabla \cdot P_{2d}(u)$ for all $u \in L^q_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$. Note, we here refer to divergence free in the sense of integrating against test functions, as u is not differentiable a priori. Fix $u \in L^q_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$ and $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$. $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^3)$ is dense in $L^q_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$, so for some arbitrary $\epsilon > 0$, fix $v \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^3)$, $\nabla \cdot v = 0$, such that

$$\|u - v\|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^3)} < \epsilon.$$
(7.56)

As we have shown above $\nabla \cdot P_{2d}(v) = 0$ in the classical sense, so clearly

$$\langle P_{2d}(v), \nabla f \rangle = 0. \tag{7.57}$$

Using the linearity of P_{2d} observe that

$$\langle P_{2d}(u), \nabla f \rangle = \langle P_{2d}(u-v), \nabla f \rangle.$$
 (7.58)

Applying Hölder's inequality we find that

$$|\langle P_{2d}(u-v), \nabla f \rangle| \le ||P_{2d}(u-v)||_{L^q} ||\nabla f||_{L^p}.$$
(7.59)

We know from the bound we have already shown that

$$\|P_{2d}(u-v)\|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^2)} \le \|u-v\|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^3)} < \epsilon, \tag{7.60}$$

so therefore

$$|\langle P_{2d}(u), \nabla f \rangle| < \epsilon \|\nabla f\|_{L^p}.$$
(7.61)

But $\epsilon > 0$ was arbitrary, so taking $\epsilon \to 0$, we find that

$$\langle P_{2d}(u), \nabla f \rangle = 0. \tag{7.62}$$

This completes the proof.

We will also define the projection onto the subspace orthogonal to $L^2_{df}(\mathbb{T}^2;\mathbb{R}^3)$.

Definition 7.9 (Projection onto the perpendicular space). Let $P_{2d}^{\perp} : L^2_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \to L^2_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$, be given by

$$P_{2d}^{\perp}(u) = u - P_{2d}(u). \tag{7.63}$$

Note that this is well defined, because we have already shown that $u \in L^2_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$ implies that $P_{2d}(u) \in L^2_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$, so clearly their difference, $u - P_{2d}(u)$, is also in this space, which means it is a well defined linear map.

Remark 7.10. Note that Theorem 7.6 can be reformulated in terms of P_{2d} and P_{2d}^{\perp} as saying there exists C > 0 such that for all $u^0 \in H_{df}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}^3)$, such that

$$\|P_{2d}^{\perp}\left(u^{0}\right)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}\exp\left(\frac{\|P_{2d}\left(u^{0}\right)\|_{L^{2}}^{2}}{C\nu^{2}}\right) \leq C\nu,\tag{7.64}$$

 u^0 generates a global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equation.

Next we will note that P_{2d} decomposes the support of the Fourier transform of u into the plane where $k_3 = 0$ and the rest of \mathbb{Z}^3 .

Proposition 7.11 (Fourier decomposition). Fix $u \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$. Let $v = P_{2d}(u), w = P^{\perp}_{2d}(u)$. Then

$$\hat{v}(k) = \begin{cases} \hat{u}(k), k_3 = 0\\ 0, k_3 \neq 0 \end{cases}$$
(7.65)

and

$$\hat{w}(k) = \begin{cases} \hat{u}(k), k_3 \neq 0\\ 0, k_3 = 0 \end{cases}$$
(7.66)

Proof. First we note that it is obvious that $\hat{w} = \hat{u} - \hat{v}$, so it suffices to prove (7.65). First note that $\partial_3 v = 0$, so

$$\partial_3 \hat{v}(k) = 2\pi i k_3 \hat{v}(k) = 0.$$
 (7.67)

Therefore we see that $k_3 \neq 0$ implies that $\hat{v}(k) = 0$. Now we will proceed to the case where $k_3 = 0$. Observe that

$$\hat{v}(k_1, k_2, 0) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} v(x_h) \exp\left(-2\pi i (k_1 x_1 + k_2 x_2)\right) dx_h.$$
(7.68)

Recalling the definition of P_{2d} , we can see that

$$\hat{v}(k_1, k_2, 0) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \int_0^1 u(x_h, z) \exp\left(-2\pi i (k_1 x_1 + k_2 x_2)\right) dx_h dz.$$
(7.69)

Taking $x = (x_h, z) \in \mathbb{T}^3$ we can express this integral as

$$\hat{v}(k_1, k_2, 0) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^3} u(x) \exp\left(-2\pi i (k_1 x_1 + k_2 x_2)\right) dx = \hat{u}(k_1, k_2, 0).$$
(7.70)

This completes the proof.

This Fourier decomposition allows us to control $P_{2d}^{\perp}(u)$ by $\partial_3 u$, although in doing so we lose criticality.

Proposition 7.12. For all $u \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$,

$$\|P_{2d}^{\perp}(u)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \le \frac{1}{2\pi} \|\partial_3 u\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
(7.71)

Proof. Let $w = P_{2d}^{\perp}(u) = u - P_{2d}(u)$. Observe that

$$\|w\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{2} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{3}} 2\pi |k| |\hat{w}(k)|^{2} = \sum_{k_{3} \neq 0} 2\pi |k| |\hat{u}(k)|^{2}.$$
(7.72)

Note that for all $k_3 \neq 0, k_3^2 \geq 1$, so we can see that

$$\|w\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{2} \leq \sum_{k_{3} \neq 0} 2\pi |k| k_{3}^{2} |\hat{u}(k)|^{2} = \frac{1}{4\pi^{2}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{3}} 2\pi |k| |2\pi i k_{3} \hat{u}(k)|^{2}.$$
(7.73)

Recalling that $\hat{\partial_3 u}(k) = 2\pi i k_3 \hat{u}(k)$, we can compute that

$$\|w\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{2} \leq \sum_{k_{3} \neq 0} 2\pi |k| k_{3}^{2} |\hat{u}(k)|^{2} = \frac{1}{4\pi^{2}} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{3}} 2\pi |k| |\widehat{\partial_{3}u}(k)|^{2} = \frac{1}{4\pi^{2}} \|\partial_{3}u\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{2}.$$
(7.74)

This inequality allows us to prove a corollary of Iftimie's result, Theorem 7.6, that is stated as bound on in terms of the size of $\partial_3 u$ in $H^{\frac{1}{2}}$, rather than in terms of perturbations of $L^2_{df}(\mathbb{T}^2)$.

Corollary 7.13. There exists C > 0 independent of ν , such that for all $u^0 \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$,

$$\|\partial_3 u^0\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{\|u^0\|_{L^2}^2}{C\nu^2}\right) \le 2\pi C\nu, \tag{7.75}$$

implies u^0 generates a global, smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes equations.

Proof. We will take C > 0 as in Theorem 7.6. Suppose $u^0 \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}_{df}$ and

$$\|\partial_3 u^0\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{\|u^0\|_{L^2}^2}{C\nu^2}\right) \le 2\pi C\nu.$$
(7.76)

Note that we do not assume that $u \in H^{\frac{3}{2}}$, but the bound on $\|\partial_3 u\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$ clearly implies that $\partial_3 u \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}$ nonetheless. Let $v^0 = P_{2d}(u^0)$ and let $w^0 = u^0 - P_{2d}(u^0)$. From Proposition 7.8, we know that

$$\|v^0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} \le \|u^0\|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^3)}.$$
(7.77)

We also know from Proposition 7.12, that

$$\|w^0\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \le \frac{1}{2\pi} \|\partial_3\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
(7.78)

Putting these two inequalities together we find that

$$\|w^0\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} \exp\left(\frac{\|v^0\|_{L^2}^2}{C\nu^2}\right) \le C\nu.$$
(7.79)

Applying Theorem 7.6, this completes the proof.

We should note here that Corollary 7.13 is not equivalent to Iftimie's result Theorem 7.6; the corollary is implied by this result, but does not imply it. That is because Iftimie's result involves controlling $\|P_{2d}^{\perp}(u^0)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$, which is scale critical, but Corollary 7.13 involves controlling $\|\partial_3 u\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$, which is not scale critical.

Corollary 7.13 neither implies, nor is implied by Theorem 7.7, which is the main result of this chapter translated to the setting of the torus rather than the whole space. This is because on the torus, as on the whole space,

$$\|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 = \|\partial_3 u\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 + \|\nabla u_3\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2.$$
(7.80)

This means that Theorem 7.7 is weaker than Corollary 7.13 in the sense that it requires control on both $\partial_3 u$ and ∇u_3 , but it is stronger in the sense that it requires control in the critical space $\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$, rather than the subcritical space $\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

In fact we will show that Theorem 7.7 is not implied by Theorem 7.6, because it is not possible to control $\|P_{2d}^{\perp}(u^0)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$ by $\|\omega_h^0\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}$. The precise result will be as follows.

Proposition 7.14.

$$\sup_{\substack{u \in H_{df}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}^3) \\ \|\omega_h\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} = 1}} \|P_{2d}^{\perp}(u)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} = +\infty.$$
(7.81)

Proof. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, define $u^n \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}_{df}$, in terms of its Fourier transform by

$$\widehat{u^{n}}(k) = a_{n} \begin{cases} (n, -1, 0), k = \pm (1, n, 1) \\ 0, \text{otherwise} \end{cases},$$
(7.82)

where a_n is a normalization factor given by

$$a_n = \left(\frac{\sqrt{n^2 + 2}}{4\pi \left(n^2 + 1\right)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(7.83)

It is easy to check that for all $n, k \in \mathbb{N}, k \cdot \widehat{u^n}(k) = 0$, so $\nabla \cdot u^n = 0$, and for each $n \in \mathbb{N}, u^n \in H^{\frac{1}{2}}_{df}(\mathbb{T}^3)$.

It is not essential to the proof, but we will also note for the sake of clarity that

$$u^{n}(x) = 2a_{n}(n, -1, 0) \cos\left(2\pi(x_{1} + nx_{2} + x_{3})\right).$$
(7.84)

Note that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ $u_3^n = 0$, so we have

$$\|\omega_h^n\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} = \|\partial_3 u^n\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
(7.85)

We know that $\widehat{\partial_3 u}(k) = 2\pi i k_3 \widehat{u^n}(k)$, so we can conclude that

$$\widehat{\partial_3 u^n}(k) = 2\pi i a_n \begin{cases} (n, -1, 0), k = \pm (1, n, 1) \\ 0, \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(7.86)

Therefore we can compute that

$$\|\omega_h^n\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 = \|\partial_3 u^n\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 = 2\frac{1}{2\pi|(1,n,1)|}|a_n 2\pi i(n,-1,0)|^2$$
(7.87)

Simplifying terms we find that

$$\|\omega_h^n\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}^2 = \frac{4\pi a_n^2 \left(n^2 + 1\right)}{\sqrt{n^2 + 2}}.$$
(7.88)

Recalling that

$$a_n^2 = \frac{\sqrt{n^2 + 2}}{4\pi \left(n^2 + 1\right)},\tag{7.89}$$

we conclude that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\|\omega_h^n\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} = \|\partial_3 u^n\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} = 1.$$
(7.90)

We know from Proposition 7.11, that the Fourier transform of $P_{2d}(u)$ is supported on the plane $k_3 = 0$ in \mathbb{Z}^3 . For all $k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{N}$, $\widehat{u^n}(k_1, k_2, 0) = 0$. This implies that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $P_{2d}(u^n) = 0$, and therefore $P_{2d}^{\perp}(u^n) = u^n$. Observe that

$$\|u^n\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^2 = 2\left(2\pi |(1,n,1)|\right) a_n^2 |(n,-1,0)|^2 = 4\pi a_n^2 (n^2+1)\sqrt{n^2+2}.$$
(7.91)

Again recalling that

$$a_n^2 = \frac{\sqrt{n^2 + 2}}{4\pi \left(n^2 + 1\right)},\tag{7.92}$$

we conclude that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\|u^n\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}^2 = n^2 + 2. \tag{7.93}$$

Note that we have shown that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\|\omega_h^n\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} = 1$, and $\|P_{2d}^{\perp}(u^n)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} = \sqrt{n^2 + 2}$.

Therefore we may conclude that

$$\sup_{\substack{u \in H_{df}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mathbb{T}^{3})\\ \|\omega_{h}\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}} = 1}} \|P_{2d}^{\perp}(u)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}} = +\infty.$$
(7.94)

By proving that $\|P_{2d}(u^0)\|_{\dot{H}^{\frac{1}{2}}}$ cannot be controlled by $\|\omega_h^n\|_{\dot{H}^{-\frac{1}{2}}}$, we have shown definitively that Theorem 7.7 is not a corollary of earlier work by Iftimie and separately by Gallagher, and so this result is new on the torus as well as on the whole space.

Chapter 8

Blowup for a toy model ODE of the strain equation

Now that we have outlined the main advances for Navier-Stokes regularity that are possible by utilizing strain equation, we will consider a toy model ODE. The main advantage of the strain equation formulation of the Navier-Stokes equation compared with the vorticity formulation is that the quadratic term $S^2 + \frac{1}{4}w \otimes w$ has a much nicer structure than the quadratic term $S\omega$ in the vorticity formulation. The price we pay for this is that there are additional terms, particularly Hess(p) which are not present in the vorticity formulation. There is also the related difficulty that the consistency condition in the strain formulation is significantly more complicated than in the vorticity formulation.

We will now examine a toy model ODE, prove the existence and stability of blowup, and examine asymptotic behavior near blowup. The simplest toy model equation would be to keep only the local part of the quadratic term (vorticity depends non-locally on S), and to study the ODE $\partial_t M + M^2 = 0$. As long as the initial condition M(0) is an invertible matrix, this has the solution $(M(t))^{-1} = (M(0))^{-1} + tI_3$. This equation will blow up in finite time assuming that M(0) has at least one negative eigenvalue. Blowup is unstable in general, because any small perturbation into the complex plane will mean there will not be blowup. However, if we restrict to symmetric matrices, then blowup is stable, because then the eigenvalues must be real valued, so a small perturbation will remain on the negative real axis. The negative real axis is an open set of \mathbb{R} , but not of \mathbb{C} , so blowup is stable only when we are restricted to matrices with real eigenvalues, which is the case we are concerned with as the strain tensor is symmetric. This equation does not preserve the family of trace free matrices however, because $tr(M^2) = |M|^2 \neq 0$, and therefore doesn't really capture any of the features of the strain equation (1.5). We will instead take our toy model ODE on the space of symmetric, trace free matrices to be

$$\partial_t M + M^2 - \frac{1}{3} |M|^2 I_3 = 0.$$
 (8.1)

Because every symmetric matrix is diagonalizable over \mathbb{R} , and every diagonalizable matrix is mutually diagonalizable with the identity matrix, this equation can be treated as a system of ODEs for the evolution of the eigenvalues $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \lambda_3$ with for every $1 \leq i \leq 3$,

$$\partial_t \lambda_i = -\lambda_i^2 + \frac{1}{3}(\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 + \lambda_3^3). \tag{8.2}$$

This equation has two families of solutions with a type of scaling invariance. Let S(0) = Cdiag(-2,1,1), with C > 0 then S(t) = f(t)diag(-2,1,1), where $f_t = f^2$, f(0) = C. Therefore we have blowup in finite time, with $S(t) = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{C}-t}diag(-2,1,1)$. The reverse case, one positive eigenvalue and two equal, negative eigenvalues, also preserves scaling, but decays to zero as $t \to \infty$. Let S(0) = Cdiag(-1, -1, 2), with C > 0. Then $S(t) = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{C}+t}diag(-1, -1, 2)$.

We will show that the blow up solution is stable, while the decay solution is unstable. Furthermore the blow up solution is asymptotically a global attractor except for the unstable family of solutions that decay to zero (i.e two equal negative eigenvalues and the zero solution). To prove this we will begin by rewriting our system. First of all, we will assume without loss of generality, that $S \neq 0$, because clearly if S(0) = 0, then S(t) = 0, is the solution. If $S \neq 0$, then clearly $\lambda_1 < 0$ and $\lambda_3 > 0$. Our system of equations really only has two degrees of freedom, because of the condition $tr(S) = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \lambda_3 = 0$, but because we are interested in the ratios of the eigenvalues asymptotically, we will reduce the system to the two parameters λ_3 and $r = -\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_3}$. These two parameters completely determine our system because $\lambda_1 = -r\lambda_3$ and $\lambda_2 = -\lambda_1 - \lambda_3 = (r-1)\lambda_3$. We now will rewrite our system of ODEs:

$$\partial_t \lambda_3 = \frac{1}{3} (\lambda_1^2 + \lambda_2^2 - 2\lambda_3^2) = \frac{1}{3} \lambda_3^2 \left(r^2 + (r-1)^2 + 2 \right), \tag{8.3}$$

$$\partial_t \lambda_3 = \frac{1}{3} \lambda_3^2 \left(2r^2 - 2r - 1 \right). \tag{8.4}$$

$$\partial_t r = \frac{\lambda_1 \partial_t \lambda_3 - \lambda_3 \partial_t \lambda_1}{\lambda_3^2} = \lambda_3 \left(-r(-\frac{1}{3} - \frac{2}{3}r + \frac{2}{3}r^2) + (-\frac{2}{3} + \frac{2}{3}r + \frac{1}{3}r^2) \right), \tag{8.5}$$

$$\partial_t r = \frac{1}{3}\lambda_3(-2r^3 + 3r^2 + 3r - 2). \tag{8.6}$$

At this point it will be useful to remark on the range of values our two variables can take. Clearly the largest eigenvalue $\lambda_3 \geq 0$, and $\lambda_3 = 0$ if and only if $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3 = 0$. Now we turn to the range of values for r. Recall that $\lambda_2 = (r-1)\lambda_3$, and that $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \lambda_3$. Therefore $-r \leq r-1 \leq 1$, so $\frac{1}{2} \leq r \leq 2$. If we take $f(r) = -2r^3 + 3r^2 + 3r - 2$, we find that f(r) is positive for $\frac{1}{2} < r < 2$ with $f(\frac{1}{2}), f(2) = 0$. This is the basis for the blowup solution being the asymptotic attractor. We are now ready to state our theorem on the existence and algebraic structure of finite time blow up solutions.

Theorem 8.1 (Toy model dynamics). Suppose $\lambda_3(0) > 0$ and $r(0) > \frac{1}{2}$, then there exists T > 0 such that $\lim_{t\to T} \lambda_3(t) = +\infty$, and furthermore $\lim_{t\to T} r(t) = 2$

Proof. We'll start by showing that finite time blow up exists, and then we will show that r goes to 2 as we approach the blow up time. First we observe that $g(r) = 2r^2 - 2r - 1$, has a zero at $\frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2}$. g(r) < 0, for $\frac{1}{2} \le r < \frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2}$, and g is both positive and increasing on $\frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2} < r \le 2$. We will begin with the case where $r(0) = r_0 > \frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2}$. Clearly $\partial_t r \ge 0$, so $r(t) > r_0$, and $g(r(t)) > g(r_0)$. Let $C = \frac{1}{3}g(r_0)$, then we find that:

$$\partial_t \lambda_3 = \frac{1}{3} g\left(r(t)\right) \lambda_3^2 \ge C \lambda_3^2. \tag{8.7}$$

From this differential inequality, we find that

$$\lambda_3(t) \ge \frac{1}{\frac{1}{\lambda_3(0)} - Ct},\tag{8.8}$$

so clearly there exists a time $T \leq \frac{1}{C\lambda_3(0)}$, such that $\lim_{t\to T} \lambda_3(t) = +\infty$.

Now we consider the case where $\frac{1}{2} < r_0 \leq \frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2}$. It suffices to show that there exists a $T_a > 0$ such that $r(T_a) > \frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2}$, then the proof above applies. Note that g is increasing on the interval $\left[-\frac{1}{2},2\right]$, so $g(r(t)) > g(r_0)$. Let $B = -\frac{1}{3}g(r_0) > 0$, and let $C = \frac{1}{3}\min\left(f(r_0), f(\frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2})\right)$. Suppose towards contradiction that for all t > 0, $r(t) \leq \frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2}$. Then we will have the differential inequalities,

$$\partial_t r \ge C\lambda_3,\tag{8.9}$$

$$\partial_t \lambda_3 \ge -B\lambda_3^2. \tag{8.10}$$

From (8.10) it follows that

$$\lambda_3(t) \ge \frac{1}{\frac{1}{\lambda_3(0)} + Bt}.$$
(8.11)

Plugging (8.11) into (8.9), we find that

$$r(t) \ge r_0 + C \int_0^t \frac{1}{\frac{1}{\lambda_3(0)} + B\tau} d\tau = r_0 + \frac{C}{B} \log\left(1 + B\lambda_3(0)t\right).$$
(8.12)

However, this estimate (8.12) clearly contradicts our hypothesis that $r(t) \leq \frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2}$ for all t > 0. Therefore, we can conclude that there exists $T_a > 0$, such that $r(T_a) > \frac{1+\sqrt{3}}{2}$, and then we have reduced the problem to the case that we have already proven.

Now we will show that $\lim_{t\to T} r(t) = 2$. Suppose toward contradiction that $\lim_{t\to T} r(t) = r_1 < 2$. First take $a(t) = \frac{1}{3}f(r(t))$. Observe that a(t) > 0 for $0 \le t \le T$. Our differential equation is now given by $\partial_t \lambda_3 = a(t)\lambda_3^2$, which must satisfy

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_3(t_1)} - \frac{1}{\lambda_3(t_2)} = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} a(\tau) d\tau.$$
(8.13)

If we take $t_2 = T$, the blow up time, then (8.13) reduces to

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_3(t)} = \int_t^T a(\tau) d\tau.$$
(8.14)

Let $A(t) = \int_t^T a(\tau) d\tau$. Clearly A(T) = 0, A'(T) = -a(T) < 0. By the fundamental theorem of calculus, for all m > a(T), there exists $\delta > 0$, such that for all $t, T - \delta < t < T$,

$$A(t) \le -m(t-T) = m(T-t).$$
 (8.15)

Using the definition of A and plugging in to (8.14) we find that for all $T = \delta < t < T$,

$$\lambda_3(t) \ge \frac{1}{m(T-t)}.\tag{8.16}$$

Let $B = \frac{1}{3}min(f(r_0), f(r_1))$. It then follows from our hypothesis that

$$\partial_t r \ge B\lambda_3. \tag{8.17}$$

Therefore we can apply the estimate (8.16) to the differential inequality (8.17) to find that for all $T - \delta < t < T$,

$$r(t) \ge r(T-\delta) + B \int_{T-\delta}^{t} \frac{1}{m(T-\tau)} d\tau = r(T-\delta) + \frac{B}{M} \log\left(\frac{\delta}{T-t}\right).$$
(8.18)

However, it is clear from (8.18) that $\lim_{t\to T} r(t) = +\infty$, contradicting our hypothesis that $\lim_{t\to T} r(t) < 2$, so we can conclude that $\lim_{t\to T} r(t) = 2$.

This toy model ODE shows that the local part of the quadratic nonlinearity tends to drive the intermediate eigenvalue λ_2 upward to λ_3 , unless $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2$. Given the nature of the regularity criterion on λ_2^+ , the dynamics of the eigenvalues of the strain matrix are extremely important. The fact that the toy model ODE blows up from all initial conditions where $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$, and that $\lambda_2 = \lambda_3$ is a global attractor on all initial conditions where $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$, provides a mechanism for blowup, but of course the very complicated nonlocal effects make it impossible to say anything definitive about blowup for the full Navier-Stokes strain equation without a much more detailed analysis.

Chapter 9

The strain equation in two dimensions

We will conclude this thesis with a brief analysis of the Navier-Stokes strain equation in two spatial dimensions. It is natural, given the difficulties that exist in three dimensions, to want to look at the simpler two dimensional case. However, none of the interesting features of the three dimensional case will turn up in two dimensions, there simply are not enough degrees of freedom for the eigenvalues of the strain matrix. We will be able to prove a statement about the change in enstrophy for two dimensions, however this will not be a new result, as the vorticity equation is already well understood in two dimensions.

First we will define the scalar vorticity as $w = \frac{\partial u_2}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial x_2}$. The evolution equation for the vorticity is given by

$$\partial_t \omega + (u \cdot \nabla)\omega - \nu \Delta \omega = 0. \tag{9.1}$$

Note in particular that there is no vortex stretching in two dimensions, there is only the advection term, and the dissipation term. This means that enstrophy will be non-decreasing, in particular that for a smooth solution

$$\partial_t \frac{1}{2} \|\omega(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -\nu \|\omega\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2.$$
(9.2)

The equation for the strain will have more terms than just advection and dissipation, but nonetheless this identity for enstrophy growth can be proven using the strain equation as well, which we will state now.

Proposition 9.1 (Strain equation in two dimensions). The Navier-Stokes strain equation can be written as an evolution equation on L_{st}^2 in two dimensions as

$$\partial_t S + (u \cdot \nabla) S - \nu \Delta S + \left(\frac{1}{2}|S|^2 - \frac{1}{4}w^2\right) I_2 + \text{Hess}(p) = 0$$
 (9.3)

Proof. We will begin by recalling that the general form of the Navier-Stokes vorticity equation in n dimensions is

$$\partial_t S + (u \cdot \nabla) S - \nu \Delta S + S^2 + A^2 + \operatorname{Hess}(p) = 0.$$
(9.4)

Note that in two dimensions the entries A are defined by the scalar vorticity with

$$A = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & w \\ -w & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{9.5}$$

so clearly we have

$$A = -\frac{1}{4}w^2 I_2 \tag{9.6}$$

Next observe that because S is symmetric and real valued and trace free it will have the form

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ b & -a \end{pmatrix},\tag{9.7}$$

for some $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$. This means that

$$S^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} a^{2} + b^{2} & 0\\ 0 & a^{2} + b^{2} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} |S|^{2} I_{2}.$$
(9.8)

This completes the proof.

We will note here that while the Navier-Stokes strain equation has more terms than the vorticity equation in two dimensions, beyond just dissipation and advection, $(\frac{1}{2}|S|^2 + \frac{1}{4}\omega^2)I_2 + \text{Hess}(p) \in (L_{st}^2)^{\perp}$, so these additional terms are only projecting back into the constraint space, and cannot drive blowup in L^2 as we will now see. This contrasts with the vorticity, which is a scalar in two dimensions, and so there is no constraint space–the vorticity is a generic scalar function.

Theorem 9.2 (Enstrophy in two dimensions). For all $S^0 \in L^2$ satisfying the consistency condition there exists a global smooth solution to the Navier-Stokes strain equation with for all t > 0

$$\|S(\cdot,t)\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\nu \int_0^t \|S(\cdot,\tau)\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 d\tau = \|S^0\|_{L^2}^2.$$
(9.9)

Proof. Just as in the three dimensional case, here we have $||S^0||_{L^2}^2 = \frac{1}{2}||w^0||_{L^2}^2$. It is well known that for two dimensional Navier-Stokes, enstrophy is a monotone quantity and therefore that initial vorticity in L^2 is sufficient to guaruntee global smooth solutions. For the second piece we can observe that integrating by parts $\langle (u \cdot S)S, S \rangle = 0$. We also know that

$$\left\langle \left(\frac{1}{2}|S|^2 - \frac{1}{4}w^2\right)I_2, S\right\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left(\frac{1}{2}|S|^2 - \frac{1}{4}w^2\right)tr(S) = 0.$$
 (9.10)

Finally we observe that as in the three dimensional case

$$\langle \operatorname{Hess}(p), S \rangle = 0. \tag{9.11}$$

From this we can conclude that

$$\partial_t \|S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^2}^2 = -2\|S(\cdot, t)\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 \tag{9.12}$$

Integrating this differential equality, this completes the proof.
This does not provide any new identity, though; this is simply equivalent to what is already known about enstrophy for two dimensional Navier-Stokes using the scalar vorticity equation. We cannot get any insight into the three dimensional Navier-Stokes strain equation by looking at the two dimensional case, because the trace free condition in two dimensions means that the eigenvalues of the strain matrix have only one degree of freedom, so none of the difficult aspects from the three dimensional equation can play a role in two dimensions. Studying the Navier-Stokes strain equation in two dimensions, therefore, will unfortunately not be of any use in understanding the three dimensional case.

Bibliography

- Dallas Albritton. Blow-up criteria for the Navier-Stokes equations in non-endpoint critical Besov spaces. Anal. PDE, 11(6):1415–1456, 2018.
- [2] Diego Ayala and Bartosz Protas. Extreme vortex states and the growth of enstrophy in three-dimensional incompressible flows. J. Fluid Mech., 818:772–806, 2017.
- [3] J. T. Beale, T. Kato, and A. Majda. Remarks on the breakdown of smooth solutions for the 3-D Euler equations. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 94(1):61–66, 1984.
- [4] Chongsheng Cao and Edriss S. Titi. Global regularity criterion for the 3D Navier-Stokes equations involving one entry of the velocity gradient tensor. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 202(3):919–932, 2011.
- [5] Dongho Chae. On the spectral dynamics of the deformation tensor and new a priori estimates for the 3D Euler equations. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 263(3):789–801, 2006.
- [6] Dongho Chae and Hi-Jun Choe. Regularity of solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation. Electron. J. Differential Equations, pages No. 05, 7, 1999.
- [7] J.-Y. Chemin. Remarques sur l'existence globale pour le système de Navier-Stokes incompressible. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 23(1):20–28, 1992.
- [8] Jean-Yves Chemin and Isabelle Gallagher. On the global wellposedness of the 3-D Navier-Stokes equations with large initial data. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 39(4):679–698, 2006.
- [9] Jean-Yves Chemin and Isabelle Gallagher. Large, global solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations, slowly varying in one direction. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 362(6):2859–2873, 2010.
- [10] Jean-Yves Chemin, Isabelle Gallagher, and Marius Paicu. Global regularity for some classes of large solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations. Ann. of Math. (2), 173(2):983–1012, 2011.
- [11] Jean-Yves Chemin and Ping Zhang. On the critical one component regularity for 3-D Navier-Stokes systems. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 49(1):131–167, 2016.
- [12] Jean-Yves Chemin, Ping Zhang, and Zhifei Zhang. On the critical one component regularity for 3-D Navier-Stokes system: general case. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 224(3):871–905, 2017.

- [13] Qionglei Chen and Zhifei Zhang. Space-time estimates in the Besov spaces and the Navier-Stokes equations. *Methods Appl. Anal.*, 13(1):107–122, 2006.
- [14] Peter Constantin. Note on loss of regularity for solutions of the 3-D incompressible Euler and related equations. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 104(2):311–326, 1986.
- [15] Athanase Cotsiolis and Nikolaos Con. Tavoularis. Sharp Sobolev type inequalities for higher fractional derivatives. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 335(10):801–804, 2002.
- [16] L. Escauriaza, G. A. Seregin, and V. Šverák. $L_{3,\infty}$ -solutions of Navier-Stokes equations and backward uniqueness. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk, 58(2(350)):3–44, 2003.
- [17] Charles L. Fefferman. Existence and smoothness of the Navier-Stokes equation. In The millennium prize problems, pages 57–67. Clay Math. Inst., Cambridge, MA, 2006.
- [18] Hiroshi Fujita and Tosio Kato. On the Navier-Stokes initial value problem. I. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 16:269–315, 1964.
- [19] B. Galanti, J. D. Gibbon, and M. Heritage. Vorticity alignment results for the threedimensional Euler and Navier-Stokes equations. *Nonlinearity*, 10(6):1675–1694, 1997.
- [20] Isabelle Gallagher. The tridimensional Navier-Stokes equations with almost bidimensional data: stability, uniqueness, and life span. Internat. Math. Res. Notices, (18):919–935, 1997.
- [21] Isabelle Gallagher, Gabriel S. Koch, and Fabrice Planchon. A profile decomposition approach to the $L_t^{\infty}(L_x^3)$ Navier-Stokes regularity criterion. *Math. Ann.*, 355(4):1527–1559, 2013.
- [22] Isabelle Gallagher, Gabriel S. Koch, and Fabrice Planchon. Blow-up of critical Besov norms at a potential Navier-Stokes singularity. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 343(1):39–82, 2016.
- [23] Peter E. Hamlington, Jörg Schumacher, and Werner J. A. Dahm. Local and nonlocal strain rate fields and vorticity alignment in turbulent flows. *Phys. Rev. E* (3), 77(2):026303, 8, 2008.
- [24] Dragoş Iftimie. The 3D Navier-Stokes equations seen as a perturbation of the 2D Navier-Stokes equations. Bull. Soc. Math. France, 127(4):473–517, 1999.
- [25] Dragoş Iftimie. The resolution of the Navier-Stokes equations in anisotropic spaces. Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana, 15(1):1–36, 1999.
- [26] Tosio Kato. Strong L^p -solutions of the Navier-Stokes equation in \mathbb{R}^m , with applications to weak solutions. *Math. Z.*, 187(4):471–480, 1984.
- [27] Tosio Kato and Gustavo Ponce. Commutator estimates and the Euler and Navier-Stokes equations. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 41(7):891–907, 1988.
- [28] Herbert Koch and Daniel Tataru. Well-posedness for the Navier-Stokes equations. Adv. Math., 157(1):22–35, 2001.

- [29] Hideo Kozono, Takayoshi Ogawa, and Yasushi Taniuchi. The critical Sobolev inequalities in Besov spaces and regularity criterion to some semi-linear evolution equations. *Math. Z.*, 242(2):251–278, 2002.
- [30] Hideo Kozono and Yasushi Taniuchi. Bilinear estimates and critical Sobolev inequality in BMO, with applications to the Navier-Stokes and the Euler equations. *Sūrikaisekikenkyūsho Kōkyūroku*, (1146):39–52, 2000. Mathematical analysis of liquids and gases (Japanese) (Kyoto, 1999).
- [31] Igor Kukavica, Walter Rusin, and Mohammed Ziane. A class of large BMO⁻¹ nonoscillatory data for the Navier-Stokes equations. J. Math. Fluid Mech., 16(2):293–305, 2014.
- [32] Igor Kukavica and Mohammed Ziane. Navier-Stokes equations with regularity in one direction. J. Math. Phys., 48(6):065203, 10, 2007.
- [33] O. A. Ladyzhenskaya. Uniqueness and smoothness of generalized solutions of Navier-Stokes equations. Zap. Naučn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI), 5:169–185, 1967.
- [34] O. A. Ladyzhenskaya. Unique global solvability of the three-dimensional Cauchy problem for the Navier-Stokes equations in the presence of axial symmetry. Zap. Naučn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI), 7:155–177, 1968.
- [35] Pierre Gilles Lemarié-Rieusset. The Navier-Stokes problem in the 21st century. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2016.
- [36] Jean Leray. Sur le mouvement d'un liquide visqueux emplissant l'espace. Acta Math., 63(1):193–248, 1934.
- [37] Elliott H. Lieb. Sharp constants in the Hardy-Littlewood-Sobolev and related inequalities. Ann. of Math. (2), 118(2):349–374, 1983.
- [38] Elliott H. Lieb and Michael Loss. Analysis, volume 14 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1997.
- [39] Lu Lu and Charles R. Doering. Limits on enstrophy growth for solutions of the threedimensional Navier-Stokes equations. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 57(6):2693–2727, 2008.
- [40] A. Mahalov, E. S. Titi, and S. Leibovich. Invariant helical subspaces for the Navier-Stokes equations. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 112(3):193–222, 1990.
- [41] Evan Miller. A regularity criterion for the Navier-Stokes equation involving only the middle eigenvalue of the strain tensor. *Arxiv*, 2018.
- [42] Marius Paicu and Zhifei Zhang. Global well-posedness for 3D Navier-Stokes equations with ill-prepared initial data. J. Inst. Math. Jussieu, 13(2):395–411, 2014.
- [43] Nguyen Cong Phuc. The Navier-Stokes equations in nonendpoint borderline Lorentz spaces. J. Math. Fluid Mech., 17(4):741–760, 2015.

- [44] Giovanni Prodi. Un teorema di unicità per le equazioni di Navier-Stokes. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 48:173–182, 1959.
- [45] Jörg Schumacher, Bruno Eckhardt, and Charles R. Doering. Extreme vorticity growth in Navier-Stokes turbulence. *Phys. Let. A*, 374(6):861–865, 2010.
- [46] G. Seregin and V. Šverák. Navier-Stokes equations with lower bounds on the pressure. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 163(1):65–86, 2002.
- [47] Gregory Seregin. A note on necessary conditions for blow-up of energy solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations. In *Parabolic problems*, volume 80 of *Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl.*, pages 631–645. Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011.
- [48] James Serrin. On the interior regularity of weak solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 9:187–195, 1962.
- [49] Michael Struwe. On a Serrin-type regularity criterion for the Navier-Stokes equations in terms of the pressure. J. Math. Fluid Mech., 9(2):235–242, 2007.
- [50] Giorgio Talenti. Best constant in Sobolev inequality. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 110:353– 372, 1976.
- [51] Terence Tao. Finite time blowup for an averaged three-dimensional Navier-Stokes equation. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 29(3):601–674, 2016.
- [52] Chuong V. Tran and Xinwei Yu. Pressure moderation and effective pressure in Navier-Stokes flows. *Nonlinearity*, 29(10):2990–3005, 2016.
- [53] A. Tsinober. Is concentrated vorticity that important. Eur. J. Mech. B/Fluids, 17(4):421– 449,, 1998.
- [54] Yong Zhou and Milan Pokorný. On a regularity criterion for the Navier-Stokes equations involving gradient of one velocity component. J. Math. Phys., 50(12):123514, 11, 2009.